CROSSTALK BETWEEN ENDOTHELIAL CELLS AND TUMOR CELLS IN HEAD AND NECK CANCER

by

Kathleen Gaboardi Neiva

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Oral Health Sciences) in The University of Michigan 2009

Doctoral Committee:

Professor Jacques Eduardo Nör, Chair Professor Valerie P. Castle Professor Peter J. Polverini Professor Cun-Yu Wang, University of California, Los Angeles © Kathleen G. Neiva

DEDICATION

To Victoria,

who showed me the meaning of unconditional love...

who makes everything worthwhile!

ACKNOWLEDGMETS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the individuals who have contributed and supported me to accomplish my Ph.D. in Oral Health Sciences:

Dr. Jacques Nör, my mentor, my friend, for his unconditional support, encouragement, and guidance throughout my dissertation work in his laboratory. He represents a role model for excellence in sciences and mentorship.

Dean Dr. Peter Polverini, for his outstanding commitment to the Oral Health Sciences Program and for the valuable contributions to my dissertation committee.

Dr. Valerie Castle and Dr. Cun-Yu Wang, for their service on my dissertation committee and their scientific advice, which contributed significantly to this work.

Dr. Charlotte Mistretta, for her remarkable dedication and commitment to the scientific training and development of each Oral Health Sciences Ph.D. student. I am deeply thankful for her encouragement and understanding during difficult times, her support was crucial for the completion of my Ph.D. training.

Dr. Nisha D'Silva, my academic advisor, for her guidance and help during my first years as a pre-candidate.

Dr. Laurie McCauley and Dr. Russell Taichman, for the training and mentorship during my laboratory rotations.

Dr. Yvonne Kapila and Dr. Daniel Chiego, for their support, scientific advice, and commitment towards the program and the students.

iii

My colleagues and friends in the Nör lab, past and present members, for their scientific and emotional support along this journey, especially Zhaocheng Zhang, Kristy Warner, Zhihong Dong, Ben Zeitlin, and Gaby Mantellini.

Elisabeta Karl and Tatiana Botero, my dear friends, who provided me tremendous support, encouragement, and guidance in so many different ways. Our lifetime friendship is priceless, and I will always be grateful.

The Ph.D. students/post-docs from Brazil who spent some time in the Nör lab and became my true friends, specially Marcia Campos, Andreza Aranha, Marta Miyazawa, Isabel Lauxen, Sandra Tarquinio, and Vivien Sakai. They will always be part of my life.

My friends in the OHS program, specially Yong-Hee Chun, Elliott Hill, Andrew Fribley, and Abraham Schneider, for their friendship, comradeship, and mentorship.

Chris Strayhorn and Chris Jung for their technical support and excellent quality of work.

Patricia Schultz, Manette London, Misty Gravelin, Charlene Erickson, Judy Pace, Kim Hunter, Tanya Bertram, Ruth Eberhart, and Diane McFarland, for their extraordinary efficiency, competency, and administrative assistance.

My father Adilson, who devoted so much of him to my education and development, and who provided unlimited support. I know he would be proud of me.

My Mother Elite and my sister Andressa, my best friends and my inspiration. None of my accomplishments would have been possible without their immense love and support. I am deeply grateful for the wonderful family I have.

iv

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATI	DN	ii
ACKNOWL	EDGMENTS	iii
LIST OF FI	GURES	vii
ABSTRACT	, ,	ix
CHAPTER		
I. INTRODU	JCTION	1
	Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma	2
	Tumor angiogenesis	6
	Antiangiogenic therapy	10
	Signaling pathways and molecular targeted therapy	14
	Cytokines and growth factors	20
	Tumor microenvironment	24
	Statement of purpose	
	Hypothesis	27
	Specific Aims	
	1	

47
75

Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
Results	
Discussion	
References	109

IV. CONCLUSION	
References	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure

2.1 Endothelial cell-derived soluble factors activate STAT3, Akt, and ERK pathways in tumor cells
2.2 Tumor cells co-cultured with endothelial cells show higher phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK compared to tumor cells cultured alone
2.3 Endothelial cells show upregulated IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF expression when co- cultured with tumor cells
2.4 Effect of endothelial cell-secreted IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF on the phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK in HNSCC cells
2.5 Bcl-2 induces IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF expression in endothelial cells71
2.6 Endothelial cell-secreted IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF enhance tumor cell survival and migration via STAT3, Akt, and ERK pathways
2.7 Endothelial cell-secreted IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF do not affect tumor cell proliferation
2.8 Endothelial cell-secreted IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF enhance tumor cell survival via STAT3, Akt, and ERK pathways74
3.1 Endothelial cell-derived factors phosphorylate STAT3, Akt, and ERK in tumor cells <i>in vitro</i> and <i>in vivo</i>
3.2 Tumor cells adjacent to blood vessels show increased phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK
3.3 Blockade of endothelial cell-induced STAT3 phosphorylation in tumor cells does not affect Akt and ERK pathways, whereas inhibition of Akt or ERK have a compensatory mechanism and do not affect STAT3103

- 3.5 IL-6 potently activates STAT3 signaling in oral squamous cell carcinoma cells.....105

ABSTRACT

Tumor angiogenesis is necessary for cancer progression and requires active interaction between endothelial cells and tumor cells. It is well established that cancer cells secrete angiogenic factors to recruit and sustain tumor vascular networks. However, little is known about the effect of endothelial cell-secreted factors on the phenotype and behavior of tumor cells. The identification and characterization of signaling events initiated by tumor-associated endothelial cells may have important implications in cancer therapy. The hypothesis underlying this dissertation is that factors secreted by endothelial cells initiate signaling pathways in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) cells that enhance tumor growth.

Here, we observed that soluble mediators from primary human dermal microvascular endothelial cells activate STAT3, Akt, and ERK signaling in HNSCC cells. HNSCC cells adjacent to blood vessels showed increased phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK in xenograft human tumors. IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF are upregulated in endothelial cells co-cultured with HNSCC, and blockade of endothelial cell-derived IL-6, CXCL8, or EGF inhibited the activation of STAT3, Akt, or ERK in tumor cells, respectively. Notably, activation of these pathways by endothelial cells enhanced migration and inhibited anoikis of tumor cells. It is known that Bcl-2 is upregulated in tumor microvessels of patients with HNSCC. Here, we observed that Bcl-

2 signaling induces expression of IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF, providing a mechanism for the upregulation of these cytokines in tumor-associated endothelial cells.

We also observed that endothelial cell-induced Akt or ERK signaling in HNSCC has a compensatory effect whereas STAT3 pathway is activated independent of Akt or ERK. Among these three pathways, STAT3 presented the higher phosphorylation levels, and was mainly induced by endothelial cell-secreted IL-6. Interestingly, downregulation of IL-6 in tumor-associated endothelial cells inhibited tumor growth in xenograft human tumors. These results suggest that patients with HNSCC might benefit from targeted inhibition of signaling events initiated by tumor associated-endothelial cells.

Collectively, this work expands the contribution of vascular endothelial cells to the pathobiology of cancer. It shows that endothelial cells function as the initiators of molecular signaling events that enhance head and neck tumor growth.

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) is the most common malignancy of the head and neck region. Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) is a significant public health challenge and represents one of the sixth most common cancers in the world (Parkin et al., 2005). Despite many advances in prevention and treatment of other types of cancer, the five-year survival rate after diagnosis for HNSCC remains low, approximately 50%, which is considerably lower than that for most cancers (Jemal et al., 2008). The limited survival of HNSCC patients is likely due to a high proportion of patients presenting with advanced disease stages, lack of suitable markers for early detection, and failure to respond to available chemotherapy (Forastiere et al., 2001; Mao et al., 2004). Their poor prognosis is also the reflection of the incomplete knowledge of the mechanisms underlying the malignant progression of this cancer type (Molinolo et al., 2009). Therefore, the ability to gain insights into the complex molecular events leading to the development and progression of HNSCC will have important implications for the early diagnosis, therapy, and prognosis of HNSCC patients.

Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma

Head and neck cancer includes malignant lesions arising in the oral cavity, larynx, and pharynx, with more than 500,000 new cases reported annually worldwide (Jemal et al., 2008; Parkin et al., 2005). Although most patients with stage I disease can be cured, around 10% relapse and die. For more advanced stages, the proportion of patients with relapses increases to 30% for stage II, 50% for stage III, and more than 70% for stage IV (Prince and Ailles, 2008).

Several risk factors contribute to the development of HNSCC. Among them, carcinogen exposure, diet, oral hygiene, infectious agents, family history, and preexisting medical conditions all play a role, individually or in combination. Tobacco smoking is well established as the dominant risk factor for HNSCC, and this risk is correlated with the intensity and duration of smoking (Brennan et al., 1995; Ho et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2000). Heavy alcohol consumption is also an independent risk factor for HNSCC, particularly for cancers of the hypopharynx. Alcohol consumption, however, is most relevant for its ability to amplify the effects of tobacco smoke in a synergistic manner (Sturgis et al., 2004; Talamini et al., 2002). Although tobacco exposure and alcohol consumption are responsible for the vast majority of HNSCC that occur in the oral cavity, larynx, and hypopharynx, their role in promoting tumorigenesis of the oropharynx is less consequential. Instead, human papillomaviruses (HPV), and in particular HPV-16, has been established as a causative agent in up to 70% of oropharyngeal cancers (Gillison et al., 2000; Herrero et al., 2003; Hobbs et al., 2006; Mork et al., 2001; Wiest et al., 2002).

The progression of head and neck cancer, from a simple squamous hyperplasia through the advancing stages of squamous dysplasia to invasive squamous cell carcinoma is driven by the progressive accumulation of genetic alterations (Forastiere et al., 2001). Histologically, dysplasia refers to neoplastic alterations of the surface epithelium prior to invasion of the subepithelial connective tissues. These changes include abnormal cellular organization, increased mitotic activity, and nuclear enlargement with pleomorphism. These alterations are typically graded on a scale of 1 to 3 based on the severity of the atypia (mild, moderate, or severe dysplasia/carcinoma *in situ*). With progression, the carcinoma *in situ* breaks through the basement membrane and infiltrates the subepithelial connective tissue as cohesive nests and cords. With advanced tumor growth, nests of invasive tumor invade skeletal muscle, craniofacial bones, and facial skin. Invasion may be associated with tumor extension along nerves and involvement of lymphatic spaces (Pai and Westra, 2009).

The initiation and progression of head and neck cancer is a complex multistep process that entails a progressive acquisition of genetic and epigenetic alterations (Califano et al., 1996b). An early model of head and neck tumorigenesis based on microsatellite analysis of allelic imbalances showed that the p53 gene is almost universally disrupted in HNSCC (Califano et al., 1996a; Poeta et al., 2007). In fact, 40% to 60% of patients with HNSCC present with a mutation of the p53 gene (Hollstein et al., 1991; Somers et al., 1992). The loss of p53 function is associated with the progression from premalignancy to invasive disease (Forastiere et al., 2001) and increases the likelihood of further genetic progression (Boyle et al., 1993). Amplification of the oncogene cyclin D1, which constitutively activates cell cycle progression, is present in

30% to 50% of patients with HNSCC and is usually associated with invasive disease, early recurrence, and shortened survival (Callender et al., 1994; Sidransky, 1995). Loss of chromosomal region 9p21 is one of the most common genetic changes and occurs early in the progression of HNSCC (Cairns et al., 1995; van der Riet et al., 1994). The main effect of this loss is the inactivation of the CDKN2A (formerly p16) gene, an inhibitor of cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) that is important in regulating the cell cycle (Kamb et al., 1994; Reed et al., 1996). This early inactivation is consistent with the findings that keratinocytes in culture often loose p16 function and thus escape senescence (Munro et al., 1999; Papadimitrakopoulou et al., 1997). More recently, epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) was found to be highly expressed in more than 95% of HNSCC. Notably, increased expression of the protein and its ligand is associated with poor prognosis (Kalyankrishna and Grandis, 2006).

The model of the molecular progression of HNSCC demonstrates that tissue with a normal or benign appearance can also contain clonal genetic changes (Califano et al., 1996b). Several studies suggest that early genetic changes do not necessarily correlate with observable changes in morphology (Rosin et al., 2000). Therefore, testing for these genetic alterations in early lesions may identify patients who are at the greatest risk for progression and lead to more definitive therapy (Forastiere et al., 2001).

Field cancerization is the term used to describe the lateral spread of pre-malignant or malignant disease, often fatal, that develop in the head and neck, lungs, esophagus, or other regions of 10–40% of patients with HNSCC (Ha and Califano, 2003; Jones et al., 1995). Field cancerization was first described more than 50 years ago as histologically altered epithelium surrounding tumors that were taken from the upper aerodigestive tract (Slaughter et al., 1953). According to the field cancerization concept, multiple cell groups independently undergo neoplastic transformation under the stress of regional carcinogenic activity. Molecular genetic approaches have challenged the notion that independent transforming events are common in the epithelium of patients with HNSCC. Indeed, when a primary HNSCC is compared with a second tumor elsewhere in the respiratory tract, the paired tumors often harbor identical patterns of genetic alterations (Bedi et al., 1996; Worsham et al., 1995). Presumably, a critical genetic alteration in a single cell provides a growth advantage over its neighboring cells. At some point after transformation, cells harboring these early genetic alterations migrate to populate contiguous tracts of mucosa, accumulate other alterations, acquire additional growth advantages, and ultimately transform into aggressive subclones separated by time and space (Califano et al., 2000). Several reports have demonstrated that the epithelium of the upper respiratory tract may become populated by these clones of genetically damaged cells despite the lack of histopathologic evidence of dysplasia (Mao et al., 1996; Westra and Sidransky, 1998). The presence of morphologically intact but genetically damaged cells not only explains the phenomenon of field cancerization, but accounts for certain patterns of tumor behavior, such as local tumor recurrence following complete surgical resection, since pre-malignant or malignant clones have the ability to migrate and persist outside the filed of treatment. Future studies to refine the relationship among these lesions is needed to identify key molecular alterations that can be used as targets for therapy (Ha and Califano, 2003).

Metastases arise following the spread of cancer from a primary site and the formation of new tumors in distant organs. At least 50% of patients with locally advanced

HNSCC develop locoregional or distant metastases, which are usually detected within the first 2 years of treatment (Argiris et al., 2008). When cancer is detected at an early stage, before it has spread, it can often be treated successfully by surgery or local irradiation, and the patient is frequently cured. However, when the cancer is detected after it is known to have metastasized, treatments are much less successful. Furthermore, for many patients in whom there was no evidence of metastasis at the time of their initial diagnosis, metastases can be detected at a later time. The metastatic process consists of a series of steps. As a primary tumor grows, it needs to develop a blood supply that can support its metabolic needs, through a process called angiogenesis (Folkman, 1971; 2002). These new blood vessels can also provide an escape route by which cells can leave the tumor and enter into the circulatory blood system (Wyckoff et al., 2000). Tumor cells might also enter the blood circulatory system indirectly via the lymphatic system (Stacker et al., 2002). The cells need to survive in the circulation until they can arrest in a new organ, extravasating from the circulation into the surrounding tissue. Once in the new site, cells initiate and maintain growth to form preangiogenic micrometastases. This growth is sustained by the development of new blood vessels in order for a macroscopic tumor to form (Chambers et al., 2002).

Tumor angiogenesis

In the early seventies Judah Folkman proposed the hypothesis that tumor growth is angiogenesis-dependent (Folkman, 1971). In this revolutionary report, Folkman showed preliminary evidence that tumors could not enlarge beyond 1 to 2 millimeters in

diameter without recruiting new blood vessels. His hypothesis stated that tumors secrete a diffusible substance that could stimulate endothelial cell proliferation in host capillary blood vessels. This was also the first report to introduce the concept of a novel form of tumor dormancy caused by blockade of angiogenesis. Indeed, most of us harbor microscopic tumors in various organs throughout life, and the vast majority of these tumors never expand further (Black and Welch, 1993). They may contain up to 1 million tumor cells that are proliferating and undergoing apoptosis, but the microscopic tumors do not invade locally and do not metastasize. They remain nonangiogenic, dormant, and harmless (Folkman and Kalluri, 2004). In the event of a shift in the balance of proangiogenic and antiangiogenic proteins, the total output of these proteins renders the tumor mass proangiogenic, and the tumor is enabled to switch to an angiogenic phenotype (Almog et al., 2006; Hanahan and Folkman, 1996). After the angiogenic switch (Rastinejad et al., 1989), both benign and malignant tumors can expand their tumor mass. Malignant angiogenic tumors, however, invade locally, metastasize to remote sites, and are potentially lethal. In the absence of the angiogenic switch, even tumors that are malignant by all other criteria may be harmless to the host (O'Reilly et al., 1994). Folkman's discovery that tumor growth is angiogenesis-dependent led to a profound paradigm shift in cancer therapy and cancer biology. Before his hypothesis, the cancer cell itself was the only target of cancer therapies. Now it is widely accepted that microvascular endothelial cells recruited by tumors are viable and effective therapeutic targets (Cao and Langer, 2008).

The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) family and the receptor tyrosine kinases are key mediators of proangiogenic effects in tumor angiogenesis. This family of

structurally related molecules includes VEGF-A, VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D, and placental growth factor (PIGF) (Ferrara, 2002; Hicklin and Ellis, 2005). The major mediator of tumor angiogenesis is VEGF-A, referred to as VEGF, which is expressed as various isoforms due to alternative splicing that leads to 121-, 165-, 189- and 206-aminoacid proteins. VEGF₁₆₅ is the predominant isoform and is commonly overexpressed in a variety of human solid tumors. The VEGF ligands bind to and activate three structurally similar type III receptor tyrosine kinases, namely VEGFR1 (also known as FLT1), VEGFR2 (also known as KDR), and VEGFR3 (also known as FLT4). Each VEGF ligand has distinctive binding specificities for each of these tyrosine kinase receptors, which contributes to their diversity of function (Ellis and Hicklin, 2008). VEGF signals mainly through VEGFR2, which is expressed at elevated levels by endothelial cells engaged in angiogenesis and by circulating bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells. The role of VEGFR1 is less clear. It binds VEGF with higher affinity than VEGFR2, but its signaling properties are weaker (Shibuya and Claesson-Welsh, 2006). VEGFR3 preferentially binds VEGF-C and VEGF-D and its expression in the adult is primarily on lymphatic endothelial cells. More recent data has demonstrated the expression and function of VEGFR3 on vascular endothelial cells (Laakkonen et al., 2007). VEGFR3 is important in cardiovascular development and remodeling of primary vascular networks during embryogenesis, and has a crucial role in post-natal lymphangiogenesis (Alitalo and Carmeliet, 2002). The neuropilins (NP1 and NP2, also known as NRP1 and NRP2) act as co-receptors for the VEGFRs, increasing the binding affinity of VEGF (Bielenberg and Klagsbrun, 2007; Klagsbrun et al., 2002; Soker et al., 1998). NP1 and NP2 have been postulated to signal independently of their association with VEGFR tyrosine kinase

receptors, but the role of VEGF activation of NP-mediated signaling is not fully understood. In fact, recent studies suggest that dual targeting of the vasculature with antibodies to VEGF and NP1 is more effective than single-agent therapy (Batchelor et al., 2007). Differences in VEGFR biology are important, as various VEGF-targeting approaches differ in their ability to block receptor function (Ellis and Hicklin, 2008).

Most types of human cancer cells express elevated levels of VEGF, as a consequence of the numerous and diverse genetic and epigenetic ways in which VEGF can be induced (Kerbel and Folkman, 2002). Hypoxia is a characteristic of solid tumors and is an important inducer of VEGF. Its effect is mediated through the hypoxiainducible transcription factors 1α and 2α (Semenza, 2003). The VEGF action is attributed mainly to a paracrine mechanism, since tumor cells produce VEGF but do not respond to it directly due low levels of VEGF receptors. In contrast, endothelial cells engaged in angiogenesis express numerous VEGF receptors, but they produce very little or no detectable VEGF. It is now clear, however, that VEGF in amounts sufficient to drive tumor angiogenesis originates from various host cells in the body such as endothelial cells (Kaneko et al., 2007), platelets (Klement et al., 2009), muscle cells (Kut et al., 2007), and tumor-associated stromal cells (Liang et al., 2006). The fact that tumor cells of many types express VEGF receptors (especially VEGFR1) (Dallas et al., 2007; Dong et al., 2007; Fan et al., 2005; Kessler et al., 2007; Wey et al., 2005) and also produce VEGF, indicates that VEGF may act as an autocrine growth factor for tumor cells (Kerbel, 2008). Furthermore, it has been shown that VEGFR1 is expressed within the cell rather than on the surface of breast cancer cells, promoting cell survival by an intracrine mechanism (Lee et al., 2007b). In addition, it has been reported that very low

levels of autocrine VEGF mediate endothelial cell survival and vascular homeostasis by signaling through intracellular VEGFR2 (Lee et al., 2007a).

Based on this knowledge, several angiogenesis inhibitors have been developed to target vascular endothelial cells and block tumor angiogenesis. Recent reports have also shown that inhibiting tumor angiogenesis increases the effectiveness of coadministered chemotherapy (Escudier et al., 2007a; Faivre et al., 2007; Hurwitz et al., 2004; Motzer et al., 2006; Sandler et al., 2006).

Antiangiogenic therapy

Targeting cells that support tumor growth rather than cancer cells themselves is a relatively new approach to cancer therapy. Endothelial cells are more stable genetically and therefore less likely to accumulate mutations that allow them to develop drug resistance (Kerbel and Folkman, 2002). In a human colorectal carcinoma, for example, it has been reported up to 11,000 total genomic alterations per tumor cell (Stoler et al., 1999). In contrast, endothelial cells in a tumor bed reveal differences only in gene expression, but not genomic alterations (Folkman et al., 2000; St Croix et al., 2000).

Angiogenesis inhibitors can act directly or indirectly. Direct angiogenesis inhibitors prevent vascular endothelial cells from proliferating, migrating, or avoiding cell death in response to a spectrum of pro-angiogenic proteins, including VEGF, basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), interleukin-8 (CXCL8), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), and platelet-derived endothelial growth factor (PD-EGF). Tumors treated with direct angiogenesis inhibitors are less likely to acquire drug resistance (Boehm et al., 1997; Kerbel, 1991). Indirect angiogenesis inhibitors generally prevent the expression or the activity of a tumor protein that activates angiogenesis, or block the expression of its receptor on endothelial cells. Many of these tumor cell proteins are the products of oncogenes that drive the angiogenic switch (Kerbel et al., 1998; Rak et al., 2002).

In 2004, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved the first antiangiogenic drug for cancer treatment in combination with conventional chemotherapy: bevacizumab (Avastin®). Bevacizumab was the first angiogenesis inhibitor proven to delay tumor growth and, more importantly, increased the overall survival of patients. Phase III clinical trials for patients with metastatic colorectal cancer demonstrated improved response rates, increased progression-free survival and increased overall survival when bevacizumab was added to irinotecan and 5-fluorouracil (Hurwitz et al., 2004). A survival benefit from bevacizumab in combination with chemotherapy has also been observed in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer (Manegold, 2008; Sandler et al., 2006), metastatic breast cancer (Miller et al., 2005) and metastatic renal cell carcinoma (Escudier et al., 2007b). Additionally, single agent bevacizumab led to an increase of time to tumor progression in advanced renal cell cancer (Yang, 2004). Several other clinical trials are currently underway to investigate the activity of this agent in various other cancer types. A recent phase I study in which bevacizumab was used in combination with fluorouracil/hydroxyurea/radiation therapy showed anti-tumor activity in HNSCC patients (Seiwert et al., 2008).

There are currently eight FDA approved anticancer therapies with recognized antiangiogenic properties, comprising two primary categories: 1) monoclonal antibodies directed against specific proangiogenic growth factors and/or their receptors; and 2) small

molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) of multiple proangiogenic growth factor receptors. Inhibitors of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) represent a third, smaller category of antiangiogenic agents. In addition, at least two other approved angiogenic agents may indirectly inhibit angiogenesis through mechanisms that are not completely understood.

Four monoclonal antibody therapies are approved to treat several tumor types: Bevacizumab (Avastin[®]), cetuximab (Erbitux[®]), panitumumab (Vectibix[™]), and trastuzumab (Herceptin[®]). Bevacizumab is a humanized monoclonal antibody that binds biologically active forms of VEGF and prevents its interaction with VEGFR1 and VEGFR2, thereby inhibiting endothelial cell proliferation and angiogenesis (Hicklin and Ellis, 2005). The approved indications for bevacizumab are metastatic colorectal cancer, non-small cell lung cancer, and advanced breast cancer. Cetuximab is a chimeric IgG1 monoclonal antibody that binds the extracellular domain of EGFR, preventing ligand binding and activation of the receptor. This blocks downstream signaling of EGFR, inhibiting cell proliferation and angiogenesis. Cetuximab was the first targeted agent proved to be clinically effective in combination with radiation therapy for patients with locally advanced HNSCC (Bonner et al., 2006; Choong and Cohen, 2006; Harari and Huang, 2006; Harari et al., 2009; Le Tourneau and Siu, 2008). Cetuximab is also approved for use in metastatic colorectal cancer. Panitumumab is a fully humanized IgG2 anti-EGFR monoclonal antibody, also approved for use in metastatic colorectal cancer. Trastuzumab is a humanized IgG1 monoclonal antibody that binds the extracellular domain of HER-2, which is overexpressed in 25-30% of invasive breast cancer tumors.

Three small molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors are currently approved as

anticancer therapies: Erlotinib (Tarceva®), sorafenib (Nexavar®), and sunitinib (Sutent®). Erlotinib inhibits EGFR and is indicated for the treatment of non-small cell lung cancer and pancreatic cancer. Sorafenib inhibits VEGFR1, VEGFR2, VEGFR3, PDGFR-β, and Raf-1; and it is approved for treatment of advanced hepatocellular and renal-cell carcinoma (Escudier et al., 2007a). Sunitinib inhibits VEGFR1, VEGFR2, VEGFR2, VEGFR3, VEGFR3, PDGFR-β, and RET; and its indications are advanced renal-cell carcinoma and gastrointestinal stromal tumor (Motzer et al., 2007b).

One mTOR inhibitor is currently approved as anti-cancer therapy. Temsirolimus (Torisel®) is a small molecule inhibitor of PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway involved in tumor cell proliferation and angiogenesis, and is approved for treatment of advanced renal cell carcinoma (Hudes et al., 2007; Motzer et al., 2007a).

Most recently, two drugs were approved as cancer therapies for multiple myeloma and mantle cell lymphoma. First, bortezomib (Velcade®) is a proteasome inhibitor that disrupts signaling of the cancer cell, leading to cell death and tumor regression, and may have indirect antiangiogenic properties (Ma and Adjei, 2009). Lastly, thalidomide (Thalomid®) possesses immunomodulatory, anti-inflammatory, and antiangiogenic properties (Breitkreutz and Anderson, 2008). The precise mechanisms of action of these two drugs are also not fully understood.

Despite all the advances in antiangiogenic therapies, several challenges still remain. The survival benefits of these treatments are relatively modest, usually measured in months (Kerbel, 2008). In addition, the treatments are extremely expensive (Berenson, 2006; Schrag, 2004) and have significant side effects (Eskens and Verweij, 2006; Verheul and Pinedo, 2007). Although promising results have been obtained with

antiangiogenic therapies in phase II trials (Fujita et al., 2007; Liang et al., 2008), cetuximab is the only agent proved by phase III clinical trials to improve survival, either in combination with radiation therapy or in first-line treatment for recurrent or metastatic HNSCC. Cetuximab was approved by the FDA in 2006, and constitutes the only targeted therapy available for this malignancy (Bozec et al., 2009; Le Tourneau and Siu, 2008). Discovery of novel molecular targets, and the inclusion of these agents in combined treatment regimes, is likely to increase therapeutic efficacy. Therefore, understanding of the molecular mechanisms involved in the development and progression of HNSCC may help to identify better tractable targets for pharmacological intervention in this disease.

Signaling pathways and molecular targeted therapy

The aberrant expression and function of molecules regulating cell signaling, growth, survival, motility, cell cycle, and angiogenesis underlie the progressive acquisition of a malignant phenotype in HNSCC (Molinolo et al., 2009). Key signaling networks deregulated in HNSCC include, among others: the EGFR (Dietz et al., 2008; Pomerantz and Grandis, 2003), the transcription factor signal transducer and activator transcription 3 (STAT3) (Grandis et al., 1998; Leeman et al., 2006), the phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt (Moral and Paramio, 2008), and the mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK)/extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) pathways (Mishima et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2004).

Many human cancers express high levels of growth factors and corresponding receptors, and many malignant cells exhibit highly active receptor tyrosine kinases due to

their activation by an autocrine or paracrine mechanism. Among the best-studied group of these receptors is the EGFR family (also known as type I receptor tyrosine kinases or ErbB tyrosine kinase receptors), which is essential for numerous normal cellular processes. The aberrant activity of this receptor family has also been linked to the development and growth of numerous tumor types including 80 to 90% of all HNSCC (Grandis and Tweardy, 1993). Indeed, EGFR overexpression may represent an independent prognostic marker correlating with increased tumor size, decreased radiation sensitivity, and increased risk of recurrence (Ang et al., 2002; Gupta et al., 2002). Constitutive EGFR activation in HNSCC is also caused by its autocrine stimulation through the co-expression of EGFR with one of its ligands, transforming growth factor- α (TGF α), which is frequently observed in HNSCC and correlates with a poor prognosis (Quon et al., 2001). The presence of truncated mutant forms of EGFR, which causes its constitutive activation, has also been detected in some HNSCC cases and may be resistant to EGFR target therapy (Sok et al., 2006). Interestingly, G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR)-induced cleavage of EGF-like growth factors leads to EGFR transactivation and EGFR-related signaling in cancer cells, suggesting that GPCR–EGFR cross-communication may play a role in the development and progression of HNSCC and other human cancers (Dorsam and Gutkind, 2007). Once activated, EGFR stimulates a number of downstream signaling events that contribute to normal and aberrant cell growth. Among them, EGFR activates the STAT3, the PI3K/Akt, and the MAPK/ERK pathways, which in turn contribute to the malignant growth and metastatic potential of HNSCC (Molinolo et al., 2009).

Currently, seven STAT family members have been identified, STAT 1, 2, 3, 4, 5a,

5b and 6, which participate in the transcription of genes involved in immune responses, growth, and cell fate decisions (Darnell, 2002). While STAT activity is essential for normal cellular functions, deregulation of the STAT pathway contributes to a number of human diseases. Indeed, gain of function of STATs is often associated with cellular transformation and oncogenic potential (Reich and Liu, 2006). Cytokines and growth factors stimulate STAT proteins by acting on their cognate receptors, which leads to the recruitment and phosphorylation of Janus kinase 1 and 2 (JAK-1 and JAK-2) that in turn phosphorylate STAT proteins at specific tyrosine residues, leading to the formation of homo- and heterodimers. STAT dimers translocate to the nucleus where they bind to consensus DNA sequences and activate the expression of growth promoting genes (Reich and Liu, 2006). Constitutive activation of STAT3 has been demonstrated in many cancers, including breast cancer, leukemia, lymphoma, lung, and thyroid cancers (Bromberg, 2002; Darnell, 2005). Notably, early studies indicated that HNSCC also exhibit remarkably elevated levels of the phosphorylated active forms of STAT3 (Grandis et al., 1998). Moreover, studies have shown that blockade of STAT3 activity leads to growth inhibition of HNSCC, supporting the importance of signaling through STAT3 in HNSCC (Grandis et al., 1998; Grandis et al., 2000; Rubin Grandis et al., 2000). Elevated levels of STAT3 alter cell cycle progression, and promote the proliferation and survival of HNSCC cells (Leeman et al., 2006). In fact, STAT3 activation may represent an early event in oral carcinogenesis, as both tumor and the adjacent normal epithelia of HNSCC patients show higher levels of STAT3 expression and phosphorylation (Grandis et al., 2000). Activated STAT3 also correlates with lymph node metastasis and poor prognosis (Grandis et al., 1998; Leeman et al., 2006). Many

mechanisms may converge to promote the persistent activation of STAT3 in HNSCC. While the direct activation of STAT3 by EGFR has been clearly shown in HNSCC cells (Grandis et al., 1998; Leeman et al., 2006), STAT3 can also be activated by an EGFRindependent mechanism (Sriuranpong et al., 2003). This mechanism often involves the autocrine activation of the gp130 cytokine receptor in HNSCC cells by tumor-released cytokines such as interleukin-6 (IL-6), which activates STAT3 independently from the activation status of EGFR. Furthermore, interfering with this cytokine-initiated pathway of STAT3 activation can result in the reduced growth and apoptotic death of HNSCC cells (Sriuranpong et al., 2003). Other cytokines and growth factors, such as erythropoietin (Lai et al., 2005), growth hormone (Gronowski et al., 1995), TGF-a (Grandis et al., 1998), thrombopoietin (Gurney et al., 1995), and PDGF (Vignais et al., 1996) have been demonstrated to stimulate STAT3 in HNSCC and other malignancies (Aggarwal et al., 2006). Several therapeutic approaches are being developed to block STAT3, which may prove to be an efficacious treatment for HNSCC (Leeman et al., 2006).

The PI3K/Akt signaling is one of the most frequently targeted pathways in human cancers, since deregulation in any component of PI3K leads to tumorigenesis (Cully et al., 2006). Genomic aberrations in the PI3K components include mutation, amplification, and/or rearrangements, which result in deregulated cell growth control and survival. These alterations contribute to a competitive growth advantage, metastatic potential, and resistance to therapy (Hennessy et al., 2005). The direct product of PI3K activity, the lipid second messenger PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃ (PIP₃), is a constituent of the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane and serves as docking sites for proteins including Akt. The Akt family

of kinases consists of three members (Akt1, Akt2 and Akt3), which possess conserved phosphorylatable threonine and serine residues (T308 and S473) that are critical for Akt function (Cantley, 2002). Akt is a central regulator of widely divergent cellular processes including proliferation, differentiation, migration, survival, and metabolism (Tokunaga et al., 2008). The importance of Akt in cancer is underscored by the fact that many oncogenic mutations result in the constitutive activation of Akt, and that many tumor suppressor proteins act by inhibiting the activity of Akt and its downstream targets (Luo et al., 2003; Vivanco and Sawyers, 2002). Recent reports support the importance of Akt in HNSCC. Akt has been shown to be persistent activated in HNSCC, and blockade of PDK1, which acts upstream of Akt, has been demonstrated to inhibit tumor cell growth (Amornphimoltham et al., 2004; Patel et al., 2002). Moreover, Akt is detected in nearly 50% of tongue preneoplastic lesions, and its activation represents an independent prognostic marker of poor clinical outcome in tongue and oropharyngeal HNSCC (Massarelli et al., 2005; Yu et al., 2007). Multiple genetic and epigenetic events may converge to promote the activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway in HNSCC, including EGFR overexpression, Ras mutations, PI3K gene amplification, and defective PTEN activity. Indeed, the presence of multiple convergent pathways resulting in enhanced Akt function may explain why activation of the Akt pathway represents one of the most frequent events in HNSCC (Molinolo et al., 2007; Molinolo et al., 2009).

Several agents have been developed to target the MAPK pathway for cancer treatment, based on its aberrant activity in tumor cells (Sebolt-Leopold and Herrera, 2004). The MAPK cascade is a key intracellular signaling pathway that regulates diverse cellular functions including cell proliferation, cell cycle regulation, cell survival,

angiogenesis, and cell migration. The MAPK pathway is generally described as a linear cascade of events initiated by receptor tyrosine kinases at the cell surface and culminates in the regulation of gene transcription in the nucleus. These cascades are comprised of three protein kinases controlled by protein phosphorylation: a MAPK kinase kinase (MAPKKK), a MAPK kinase (MAPKK), and a MAPK (Johnson and Lapadat, 2002). The terminal serine/threonine kinases (MAPKs) are the ERK1/2 (p44 ERK1 and p42 ERK2), the c-Jun amino-terminal kinases (JNK1/2/3), and p38 kinases. Generally, the ERK pathway is activated by growth factor-stimulated cell surface receptors tyrosine kinases that are important in cancer biology, such as EGFR, PDGFR, and VEGFR (Roberts and Der, 2007); whereas the JNK and p38 pathways are activated by stress (UV light, osmotic stress, γ -irradiation, heat shock, and growth factor withdraw) and cytokines (TNF- α and IL-1) (Raingeaud et al., 1995; Xia et al., 1995). The role of ERK pathway in tumorigenesis is well established because of its critical involvement in the regulation of cell proliferation and survival, making ERK a focus of intense investigation for therapeutic targeting (Benson et al., 2006). On the other hand, JNK and p38 inhibitors are mainly studied as a therapy for inflammatory diseases (Dominguez et al., 2005; Hynes and Leftheri, 2005), although JNK inhibitors have also been explored for the treatment of vascular, neurodegenerative, metabolic, and oncological diseases (Manning and Davis, 2003). During the past few years, the understanding of the Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK signaling in HNSCC has increased (Das et al., 2000; Mishima et al., 2002; Yamatodani et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2008); therefore, molecular therapies targeting MAPK/ERK are likely to emerge for the treatment of HNSCC.

In summary, the knowledge of the complex signaling network in cancer has

increased significantly leading to the discovery of novel molecular targets for drug development. Emphasis is given on targeting multiple signaling pathways for more effective disease management. Therefore, a better understanding of the crosstalk between signaling pathways involved in HNSCC will provide the opportunity for the development of novel strategies for targeting multiple molecular components for more effective prevention and treatment of HNSCC (Matta and Ralhan, 2009).

Cytokines and growth factors

Cytokines and growth factors play pivotal roles in a variety of biological responses, including the immune response, hematopoiesis, neurogenesis, embryogenesis, and oncogenesis (Heldin, 1995; Hibi and Hirano, 1998; Hirano, 1998; Hunter, 1997). They exert their effects through specific receptors, and activate several signaling pathways through distinct regions of each receptor's cytoplasmic domain, including STAT3, PI3K, and MAPK (Birge et al., 1996; Darnell, 1997; Heldin, 1995; Heldin et al., 1997; Hirano et al., 1997; Hunter, 1997; Ihle, 1996; Taniguchi, 1995).

Cytokines are low molecular weight, soluble proteins, that generally act over short distances, within narrow time frames at very low concentrations and must therefore be produced de novo in response to a stimulus (Pries and Wollenberg, 2006). They are known to possess pleiotropic as well as redundant characteristics, which means that a particular cytokine can influence various cell types as well as different cytokines can share the same function. Furthermore cytokines are able to function in an antagonistic or synergistic manner by inhibiting or stimulating particular functions of other cytokines, respectively. Thus, a highly complex network of cytokine interactions exists *in vivo* (Rakesh and Agrawal, 2005; Taniguchi, 1995).

Cytokines and growth factors are produced by various cell types including cells of the immune system, endothelial cells, epithelial cells, and fibroblasts, and deregulation in this network lead to several diseases (Bendall, 2005; Yan et al., 2006). HNSCC cells develop molecular strategies in order to evade growth inhibitory effects of cytokines present in the tumor microenvironment; thus, the malignant transformation process is strongly associated with an altered response to cytokine stimulation (Douglas et al., 2004; Pries and Wollenberg, 2006). Several cytokines and growth factors are highly secreted in HNSCC including IL-4, IL-6, IL-8 (CXCL8), IL-10, prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂), granulocyte macrophage-colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), VEGF, EGF, and bFGF (Chen et al., 1999; Eisma et al., 1997; Mann et al., 1992; Wilson et al., 2009).

IL-6 is a multifunctional cytokine that is important for immune responses, cell survival, apoptosis, and proliferation (Kishimoto, 2005), and it plays an important role in the pathophysiology of cancer (Hodge et al., 2005). IL-6 signals via a heterodimeric IL-6R/gp130 complex, whose engagement triggers mainly the activation of JAK/STAT pathway, although it can also activate PI3K/Akt and Ras/MAPK (Kishimoto, 2005). Several studies describe a tumorigenic role of IL-6 and its major effector, STAT3, in many cancers, including breast, lung, colon, prostate, ovarian, melanoma, and hematological cancers (Hodge et al., 2005). Notably, recent studies have demonstrated a correlation between high levels of IL-6 and poor prognosis of HNSCC patients (Chakravarti et al., 2006; Duffy et al., 2008; Kanazawa et al., 2007; Riedel et al., 2005). In addition, IL-6 has been shown to directly influence the proliferation and the invasion

potential of HNSCC cells (Kanazawa et al., 2007). Given the importance of IL-6/gp130/IL-6R/STAT3 signaling in HNSCC, IL-6 may be an attractive target for HSCCC therapy.

Chemokines compose a large family of inflammatory cytokines. CXCL8 is a chemokine of the Glu-Leu-Arg (ELR)+ CXC family with potent angiogenic effects (Strieter et al., 2006). CXCL8 activates multiple intracellular signaling pathways downstream of two cell-surface, G protein-coupled receptors, CXCR1 and CXCR2 (Holmes et al., 1991; Murphy and Tiffany, 1991). Increased expression of CXCL8 and/or its cognate receptors has been characterized in cancer cells, endothelial cells, infiltrating neutrophils, and tumor-associated macrophages, suggesting that CXCL8 may function as a significant regulatory factor within the tumor microenvironment (Waugh and Wilson, 2008). CXCL8 has been demonstrated to activate PI3K/Akt (Cheng et al., 2008), MAPK/ERK (Venkatakrishnan et al., 2000), and STAT3 (Burger et al., 2005) pathways. As a consequence of the diversity of effectors and downstream targets, CXCL8 signaling promotes angiogenic responses in endothelial cells, increases proliferation and survival of endothelial and cancer cells, and potentiates the migration of cancer cells, endothelial cells, and infiltrating neutrophils at the tumor site (De Larco et al., 2004; Li et al., 2003). Accordingly, CXCL8 expression correlates with the angiogenesis, tumorigenicity, and metastasis of tumors in numerous xenograft and orthotopic in vivo models (Bendre et al., 2005; Huang et al., 2002; Inoue et al., 2000; Karashima et al., 2003). Thus, inhibiting the effects of CXCL8 signaling may be a significant therapeutic intervention in targeting HNSCC.

In addition to cytokines, growth factors represent a subset of extracellular stimuli from the surrounding microenvironment that regulates cell proliferation, differentiation, migration, and survival. Soluble growth factor peptide ligands bind to their cognate receptors and initiate a cascade of intracellular events. Epidermal growth factor (EGF) is the prototypic member of the EGF family, and is a key regulatory factor in promoting cell survival (Jost et al., 2000). EGF binds to a family of receptors (ErbB receptor family) and illicits specific cellular response through signal transduction pathways. These signaling pathways are regulated by the amount of EGF present, the expression level of ErbB receptors, and the presence of both positive and negative signaling regulators, indicating the complexity and specificity of EGF signaling (Burgess et al., 2003; Herbst, 2004). The ErbB family consists of four closely related tyrosine kinase transmembrane receptors: ErbB1/EGFR, ErbB2/HER2/neu, ErbB3/HER3, and ErbB4/HER4 that sense their microenvironment by binding to an array of extracellular ligands (Normanno et al., 2005). EGF binds exclusively to EGFR, which forms homo- or heterodimers with the other three ErbB receptors (Muthuswamy et al., 1999; Olayioye et al., 2000). This dimerization activates the tyrosine kinase domain through phosphorylation of the receptors, which ultimately leads to phosphorylation of serine or threonine residues on other protein kinases and/or transcription factors (Olayioye et al., 2000). This kinase cascade leads to amplification of a network of signaling pathways resulting in changes in protein function and activation of gene transcription (Henson and Gibson, 2006). Among the signaling pathways activated by EGF signaling are STAT3 (Learnan et al., 1996), PI3K/Akt (Gibson et al., 2002), and MAPK/ERK (Johnson et al., 2005). In cancer, intracellular signaling pathways regulated by EGF are often altered. The constitutively activated STAT3 in cancer cells is mainly attributed to deregulation of upstream pathways, such as activation of EGFR, which elevates EGF-induced transcriptional activity, and cell survival (Olayioye et al., 1999). EGF-mediated deregulation of the PI3K/Akt pathway is present in approximately 25% of solid tumors (Sansal and Sellers, 2004). Moreover, EGF-mediated activation of ERK signaling is deregulated through mutations in Ras in many cancers (Duursma and Agami, 2003). Since the EGF signaling network can be deregulated at many levels during cancer progression, it also makes the EGF pathway a potential target for HNSCC therapy.

The understanding of the complex network and interaction of cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors in HNSCC may provide new therapeutic targets for the treatment of HNSCC patients. Cells from the tumor microenvironment play a key role in the malignant progression since they secrete high levels of cytokines and growth factors, making them another potential target for HNSCC therapy.

Tumor microenvironment

Increasing evidence shows that the interaction between cancer cells and the surrounding stroma is a critical factor in tumor growth (Anton and Glod, 2009). As the understanding of cancer biology continues to expand, there is a tendency to treat tumors as a functional organ, composed of various cell types and molecules that interact in a dynamic and interdependent manner. The recognition of the tumor as a complex organ may lead to more specific and elegant methods of treating cancer that may minimize toxicity and improve patient survival (Hanna et al., 2009).

In addition to tumor cells, the tumor microenvironment is composed of endothelial cells, pericytes, invading inflammatory cells and leucocytes, fibroblasts, and extracellular matrix (ECM) components. Recent studies demonstrated that the tumor stroma does not exist simply as a passive support structure, but rather plays an active role in tumor progression (Blavier and Declerck, 2005; Derynck et al., 2001; Shekhar et al., 2001). In fact, the activation of autocrine and paracrine signaling pathways by stromaderived cytokines and growth factors has been implicated in promoting tumor cell proliferation and metastasis (Aharinejad et al., 2009). Therefore, elements of the tumor microenvironment are promising targets for novel therapies that may overcome many of the limitations of current treatment options that are primarily targeted to the cancer cell. Combinatorial therapy that targets multiple components of the tumor microenvironment may allow for lower doses of each individual agent, and may overcome compensatory escape mechanisms that tumors usually rely upon for survival (Blansfield et al., 2008; Dorrell et al., 2007; Mizukami et al., 2005). In addition, anticancer agents directed at the tumor stroma, which is genetically more stable than tumor cells themselves, may exhibit less associated toxicity and drug resistance (Hanna et al., 2009). Although, recent studies in several experimental models suggest that both tumor and stromal cells may be involved in the reduced responsiveness to the treatments, as a consequence of acquired resistance to antiangiogenic drugs, similar to other anticancer therapies (Shojaei and Ferrara, 2008).

Several unique targets for cancer therapy are present in the tumor microenvironment. Recent studies of endothelial cells (Arap et al., 2002; Benezra et al., 2001; Hoffman et al., 2003; Joyce et al., 2003; Trepel et al., 2002), and stromal
fibroblasts (Bhowmick et al., 2004a; Bhowmick et al., 2004b; Park et al., 1999) have identified molecular differences between nontumor cells in the microenvironment of preneoplastic lesions compared to tumors. These proteins themselves could be therapeutically targeted or used as "zip codes" to specifically deliver drugs to these cells. Thus, targeting selectively modified cells in the tumor microenvironment, would not affect their unmodified precursors in normal tissues (Joyce, 2005). Finally, the ultimate goal of targeting tumor-stroma interactions is to develop improved therapies that translate into prolonged survival for the HNSCC patients (Hanna et al., 2009).

Statement of purpose

More than half a million new cases of HNSCC are diagnosed each year worldwide. Despite extensive basic and clinical research, the 5-year survival rate for these patients is 50%, one of the lowest among major cancers, and has not improved significantly over the past three decades. Molecular targeted therapy is a promising approach to treat HNSCC, and it has been shown to improve overall patient survival. Although recent drugs are proven to have a positive effect in the treatment of cancer, the benefits are still modest, the prices are extremely high, these agents have many side effects, and the tumors may acquire drug resistance. Therefore, discovery of novel therapeutic targets may improve clinical outcomes specially if combined with existing therapies.

Tumor angiogenesis is crucial for cancer progression and requires active interaction between endothelial cells and tumor cells. It is well established that cancer

26

cells secrete angiogenic factors to recruit and sustain tumor vascular networks. However, little is known about the effect of endothelial cell-secreted factors on the phenotype and behavior of tumor cells. The identification and characterization of the signaling events initiated by tumor-associated endothelial cells may have important implications in cancer therapy. Emerging knowledge has shed light on signaling cascades that regulate HNSCC progression. Among them, STAT3, PI3K/Akt, and MAPK/ERK pathways are known to play critical roles in the control of cell cycle, survival, proliferation, and migration of tumor cells. However, the impact of endothelial cell-initiated signaling on the activation of the STAT3, Akt, and ERK pathways in HNSCC is unclear. In this dissertation we will explore molecular signaling events in HNSCC cells initiated by endothelial cells and the biological effects of this crosstalk.

In chapter II, we demonstrated that factors secreted by endothelial cells namely IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF activate STAT3, Akt, and ERK signaling pathways in HNSCC cells, increasing tumor cell survival and migration. In chapter III we explored in more depth this network of signaling events in HNSCC initiated by endothelial cells. More specifically, we demonstrated that downregulation of IL-6 in tumor-associated endothelial cells is sufficient to inhibit tumor growth.

Hypothesis

The central hypothesis addressed in this dissertation is that factors secreted by endothelial cells initiate signaling pathways in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells that enhance tumor growth.

Specific Aims

This central hypothesis will be tested by addressing the following specific aims: - Specific Aim 1: To evaluate the impact of endothelial cell-secreted factors on the gene expression profile of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells.

- **Specific Aim 2:** To study molecular signaling events initiated by endothelial cells that result in the activation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK signaling pathways in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells.

- **Specific Aim 3:** To study the effect of endothelial cell-derived IL-6 on head and neck squamous cell carcinoma growth and microvessel density.

References

Aggarwal BB, Sethi G, Ahn KS, Sandur SK, Pandey MK, Kunnumakkara AB, et al. (2006). Targeting signal-transducer-and-activator-of-transcription-3 for prevention and therapy of cancer: modern target but ancient solution. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1091(151-69.

Aharinejad S, Sioud M, Lucas T, Abraham D (2009). Targeting stromal-cancer cell interactions with siRNAs. *Methods Mol Biol* 487(243-66.

Alitalo K, Carmeliet P (2002). Molecular mechanisms of lymphangiogenesis in health and disease. *Cancer Cell* 1(3):219-27.

Almog N, Henke V, Flores L, Hlatky L, Kung AL, Wright RD, et al. (2006). Prolonged dormancy of human liposarcoma is associated with impaired tumor angiogenesis. *FASEB* J 20(7):947-9.

Amornphimoltham P, Sriuranpong V, Patel V, Benavides F, Conti CJ, Sauk J, et al. (2004). Persistent activation of the Akt pathway in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: a potential target for UCN-01. *Clin Cancer Res* 10(12 Pt 1):4029-37.

Ang KK, Berkey BA, Tu X, Zhang HZ, Katz R, Hammond EH, et al. (2002). Impact of epidermal growth factor receptor expression on survival and pattern of relapse in patients with advanced head and neck carcinoma. *Cancer Res* 62(24):7350-6.

Anton K, Glod J (2009). Targeting the tumor stroma in cancer therapy. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol* 10(2):185-91.

Arap W, Kolonin MG, Trepel M, Lahdenranta J, Cardo-Vila M, Giordano RJ, et al. (2002). Steps toward mapping the human vasculature by phage display. *Nat Med* 8(2):121-7.

Argiris A, Karamouzis MV, Raben D, Ferris RL (2008). Head and neck cancer. *Lancet* 371(9625):1695-709.

Batchelor TT, Sorensen AG, di Tomaso E, Zhang WT, Duda DG, Cohen KS, et al. (2007). AZD2171, a pan-VEGF receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor, normalizes tumor vasculature and alleviates edema in glioblastoma patients. *Cancer Cell* 11(1):83-95.

Bedi GC, Westra WH, Gabrielson E, Koch W, Sidransky D (1996). Multiple head and neck tumors: evidence for a common clonal origin. *Cancer Res* 56(11):2484-7.

Bendall L (2005). Chemokines and their receptors in disease. *Histol Histopathol* 20(3):907-26.

Bendre MS, Margulies AG, Walser B, Akel NS, Bhattacharrya S, Skinner RA, et al. (2005). Tumor-derived interleukin-8 stimulates osteolysis independent of the receptor activator of nuclear factor-kappaB ligand pathway. *Cancer Res* 65(23):11001-9.

Benezra R, Rafii S, Lyden D (2001). The Id proteins and angiogenesis. *Oncogene* 20(58):8334-41.

Benson JD, Chen YN, Cornell-Kennon SA, Dorsch M, Kim S, Leszczyniecka M, et al. (2006). Validating cancer drug targets. *Nature* 441(7092):451-6.

Berenson A (2006). A cancer drug shows promise, at a price that many can't pay. NY Times (Print):A1, C2.

Bhowmick NA, Chytil A, Plieth D, Gorska AE, Dumont N, Shappell S, et al. (2004a). TGF-beta signaling in fibroblasts modulates the oncogenic potential of adjacent epithelia. *Science* 303(5659):848-51.

Bhowmick NA, Neilson EG, Moses HL (2004b). Stromal fibroblasts in cancer initiation and progression. *Nature* 432(7015):332-7.

Bielenberg DR, Klagsbrun M (2007). Targeting endothelial and tumor cells with semaphorins. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* 26(3-4):421-31.

Birge RB, Knudsen BS, Besser D, Hanafusa H (1996). SH2 and SH3-containing adaptor proteins: redundant or independent mediators of intracellular signal transduction. *Genes Cells* 1(7):595-613.

Black WC, Welch HG (1993). Advances in diagnostic imaging and overestimations of disease prevalence and the benefits of therapy. *N Engl J Med* 328(17):1237-43.

Blansfield JA, Caragacianu D, Alexander HR, 3rd, Tangrea MA, Morita SY, Lorang D, et al. (2008). Combining agents that target the tumor microenvironment improves the efficacy of anticancer therapy. *Clin Cancer Res* 14(1):270-80.

Blavier L, Declerck YA (2005). Considering the critical interface between tumor cells and stromal cells in the search for targets for anticancer therapy. *Cancer Cell* 7(5):408-9.

Boehm T, Folkman J, Browder T, O'Reilly MS (1997). Antiangiogenic therapy of experimental cancer does not induce acquired drug resistance. *Nature* 390(6658):404-7.

Bonner JA, Harari PM, Giralt J, Azarnia N, Shin DM, Cohen RB, et al. (2006). Radiotherapy plus cetuximab for squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck. *N Engl J Med* 354(6):567-78.

Boyle JO, Hakim J, Koch W, van der Riet P, Hruban RH, Roa RA, et al. (1993). The incidence of p53 mutations increases with progression of head and neck cancer. *Cancer Res* 53(19):4477-80.

Bozec A, Peyrade F, Fischel JL, Milano G (2009). Emerging molecular targeted therapies in the treatment of head and neck cancer. *Expert Opin Emerg Drugs* 14(2):299-310.

Brennan JA, Boyle JO, Koch WM, Goodman SN, Hruban RH, Eby YJ, et al. (1995). Association between cigarette smoking and mutation of the p53 gene in squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck. *N Engl J Med* 332(11):712-7.

Bromberg J (2002). Stat proteins and oncogenesis. J Clin Invest 109(9):1139-42.

Burger M, Hartmann T, Burger JA, Schraufstatter I (2005). KSHV-GPCR and CXCR2 transforming capacity and angiogenic responses are mediated through a JAK2-STAT3-dependent pathway. *Oncogene* 24(12):2067-75.

Burgess AW, Cho HS, Eigenbrot C, Ferguson KM, Garrett TP, Leahy DJ, et al. (2003). An open-and-shut case? Recent insights into the activation of EGF/ErbB receptors. *Mol Cell* 12(3):541-52.

Cairns P, Polascik TJ, Eby Y, Tokino K, Califano J, Merlo A, et al. (1995). Frequency of homozygous deletion at p16/CDKN2 in primary human tumours. *Nat Genet* 11(2):210-2.

Califano J, Ahrendt SA, Meininger G, Westra WH, Koch WM, Sidransky D (1996a). Detection of telomerase activity in oral rinses from head and neck squamous cell carcinoma patients. *Cancer Res* 56(24):5720-2.

Califano J, van der Riet P, Westra W, Nawroz H, Clayman G, Piantadosi S, et al. (1996b). Genetic progression model for head and neck cancer: implications for field cancerization. *Cancer Res* 56(11):2488-92.

Califano J, Westra WH, Meininger G, Corio R, Koch WM, Sidransky D (2000). Genetic progression and clonal relationship of recurrent premalignant head and neck lesions. *Clin Cancer Res* 6(2):347-52.

Callender T, el-Naggar AK, Lee MS, Frankenthaler R, Luna MA, Batsakis JG (1994). PRAD-1 (CCND1)/cyclin D1 oncogene amplification in primary head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer* 74(1):152-8.

Cantley LC (2002). The phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway. Science 296(5573):1655-7.

Cao Y, Langer R (2008). A review of Judah Folkman's remarkable achievements in biomedicine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105(36):13203-5.

Chakravarti N, Myers JN, Aggarwal BB (2006). Targeting constitutive and interleukin-6inducible signal transducers and activators of transcription 3 pathway in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells by curcumin (diferuloylmethane). *Int J Cancer* 119(6):1268-75.

Chambers AF, Groom AC, MacDonald IC (2002). Dissemination and growth of cancer cells in metastatic sites. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2(8):563-72.

Chen Z, Malhotra PS, Thomas GR, Ondrey FG, Duffey DC, Smith CW, et al. (1999). Expression of proinflammatory and proangiogenic cytokines in patients with head and neck cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 5(6):1369-79.

Cheng GZ, Park S, Shu S, He L, Kong W, Zhang W, et al. (2008). Advances of AKT pathway in human oncogenesis and as a target for anti-cancer drug discovery. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets* 8(1):2-6.

Choong NW, Cohen EE (2006). Epidermal growth factor receptor directed therapy in head and neck cancer. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* 57(1):25-43.

Cully M, You H, Levine AJ, Mak TW (2006). Beyond PTEN mutations: the PI3K pathway as an integrator of multiple inputs during tumorigenesis. *Nat Rev Cancer* 6(3):184-92.

Dallas NA, Fan F, Gray MJ, Van Buren G, 2nd, Lim SJ, Xia L, et al. (2007). Functional significance of vascular endothelial growth factor receptors on gastrointestinal cancer cells. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* 26(3-4):433-41.

Darnell JE (2005). Validating Stat3 in cancer therapy. Nat Med 11(6):595-6.

Darnell JE, Jr. (1997). STATs and gene regulation. Science 277(5332):1630-5.

Darnell JE, Jr. (2002). Transcription factors as targets for cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2(10):740-9.

Das N, Majumder J, DasGupta UB (2000). ras gene mutations in oral cancer in eastern India. *Oral Oncol* 36(1):76-80.

De Larco JE, Wuertz BR, Furcht LT (2004). The potential role of neutrophils in promoting the metastatic phenotype of tumors releasing interleukin-8. *Clin Cancer Res* 10(15):4895-900.

Derynck R, Akhurst RJ, Balmain A (2001). TGF-beta signaling in tumor suppression and cancer progression. *Nat Genet* 29(2):117-29.

Dietz A, Boehm A, Mozet C, Wichmann G, Giannis A (2008). Current aspects of targeted therapy in head and neck tumors. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol* 265 Suppl 1(S3-12.

Dominguez C, Powers DA, Tamayo N (2005). p38 MAP kinase inhibitors: many are made, but few are chosen. *Curr Opin Drug Discov Devel* 8(4):421-30.

Dong X, Han ZC, Yang R (2007). Angiogenesis and antiangiogenic therapy in hematologic malignancies. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* 62(2):105-18.

Dorrell MI, Aguilar E, Scheppke L, Barnett FH, Friedlander M (2007). Combination angiostatic therapy completely inhibits ocular and tumor angiogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104(3):967-72.

Dorsam RT, Gutkind JS (2007). G-protein-coupled receptors and cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 7(2):79-94.

Douglas WG, Tracy E, Tan D, Yu J, Hicks WL, Jr., Rigual NR, et al. (2004). Development of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma is associated with altered cytokine responsiveness. *Mol Cancer Res* 2(10):585-93.

Duffy SA, Taylor JM, Terrell JE, Islam M, Li Y, Fowler KE, et al. (2008). Interleukin-6 predicts recurrence and survival among head and neck cancer patients. *Cancer* 113(4):750-7.

Duursma AM, Agami R (2003). Ras interference as cancer therapy. *Semin Cancer Biol* 13(4):267-73.

Eisma RJ, Spiro JD, Kreutzer DL (1997). Vascular endothelial growth factor expression in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Am J Surg* 174(5):513-7.

Ellis LM, Hicklin DJ (2008). VEGF-targeted therapy: mechanisms of anti-tumour activity. *Nat Rev Cancer* 8(8):579-91.

Escudier B, Eisen T, Stadler WM, Szczylik C, Oudard S, Siebels M, et al. (2007a). Sorafenib in advanced clear-cell renal-cell carcinoma. *N Engl J Med* 356(2):125-34.

Escudier B, Pluzanska A, Koralewski P, Ravaud A, Bracarda S, Szczylik C, et al. (2007b). Bevacizumab plus interferon alfa-2a for treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma: a randomised, double-blind phase III trial. *Lancet* 370(9605):2103-11.

Eskens FA, Verweij J (2006). The clinical toxicity profile of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR) targeting angiogenesis inhibitors; a review. *Eur J Cancer* 42(18):3127-39.

Faivre S, Demetri G, Sargent W, Raymond E (2007). Molecular basis for sunitinib efficacy and future clinical development. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 6(9):734-45.

Fan F, Wey JS, McCarty MF, Belcheva A, Liu W, Bauer TW, et al. (2005). Expression and function of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 on human colorectal cancer cells. *Oncogene* 24(16):2647-53.

Ferrara N (2002). VEGF and the quest for tumour angiogenesis factors. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2(10):795-803.

Folkman J (1971). Tumor angiogenesis: therapeutic implications. *N Engl J Med* 285(21):1182-6.

Folkman J, Hahnfeldt P, Hlatky L (2000). Cancer: looking outside the genome. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 1(1):76-9.

Folkman J (2002). Role of angiogenesis in tumor growth and metastasis. *Semin Oncol* 29(6 Suppl 16):15-8.

Folkman J, Kalluri R (2004). Cancer without disease. Nature 427(6977):787.

Forastiere A, Koch W, Trotti A, Sidransky D (2001). Head and neck cancer. *N Engl J Med* 345(26):1890-900.

Fujita K, Sano D, Kimura M, Yamashita Y, Kawakami M, Ishiguro Y, et al. (2007). Antitumor effects of bevacizumab in combination with paclitaxel on head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncol Rep* 18(1):47-51.

Gibson EM, Henson ES, Haney N, Villanueva J, Gibson SB (2002). Epidermal growth factor protects epithelial-derived cells from tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand-induced apoptosis by inhibiting cytochrome c release. *Cancer Res* 62(2):488-96.

Gillison ML, Koch WM, Capone RB, Spafford M, Westra WH, Wu L, et al. (2000). Evidence for a causal association between human papillomavirus and a subset of head and neck cancers. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 92(9):709-20.

Grandis JR, Tweardy DJ (1993). Elevated levels of transforming growth factor alpha and epidermal growth factor receptor messenger RNA are early markers of carcinogenesis in head and neck cancer. *Cancer Res* 53(15):3579-84.

Grandis JR, Drenning SD, Chakraborty A, Zhou MY, Zeng Q, Pitt AS, et al. (1998). Requirement of Stat3 but not Stat1 activation for epidermal growth factor receptor-mediated cell growth In vitro. *J Clin Invest* 102(7):1385-92.

Grandis JR, Drenning SD, Zeng Q, Watkins SC, Melhem MF, Endo S, et al. (2000). Constitutive activation of Stat3 signaling abrogates apoptosis in squamous cell carcinogenesis in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97(8):4227-32.

Gronowski AM, Zhong Z, Wen Z, Thomas MJ, Darnell JE, Jr., Rotwein P (1995). In vivo growth hormone treatment rapidly stimulates the tyrosine phosphorylation and activation of Stat3. *Mol Endocrinol* 9(2):171-7.

Gupta AK, McKenna WG, Weber CN, Feldman MD, Goldsmith JD, Mick R, et al. (2002). Local recurrence in head and neck cancer: relationship to radiation resistance and signal transduction. *Clin Cancer Res* 8(3):885-92.

Gurney AL, Wong SC, Henzel WJ, de Sauvage FJ (1995). Distinct regions of c-Mpl cytoplasmic domain are coupled to the JAK-STAT signal transduction pathway and Shc phosphorylation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 92(12):5292-6.

Ha PK, Califano JA (2003). The molecular biology of mucosal field cancerization of the head and neck. *Crit Rev Oral Biol Med* 14(5):363-9.

Hanahan D, Folkman J (1996). Patterns and emerging mechanisms of the angiogenic switch during tumorigenesis. *Cell* 86(3):353-64.

Hanna E, Quick J, Libutti SK (2009). The tumour microenvironment: a novel target for cancer therapy. *Oral Dis* 15(1):8-17.

Harari PM, Huang S (2006). Radiation combined with EGFR signal inhibitors: head and neck cancer focus. *Semin Radiat Oncol* 16(1):38-44.

Harari PM, Wheeler DL, Grandis JR (2009). Molecular target approaches in head and neck cancer: epidermal growth factor receptor and beyond. *Semin Radiat Oncol* 19(1):63-8.

Heldin CH (1995). Dimerization of cell surface receptors in signal transduction. *Cell* 80(2):213-23.

Heldin CH, Miyazono K, ten Dijke P (1997). TGF-beta signalling from cell membrane to nucleus through SMAD proteins. *Nature* 390(6659):465-71.

Hennessy BT, Smith DL, Ram PT, Lu Y, Mills GB (2005). Exploiting the PI3K/AKT pathway for cancer drug discovery. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 4(12):988-1004.

Henson ES, Gibson SB (2006). Surviving cell death through epidermal growth factor (EGF) signal transduction pathways: implications for cancer therapy. *Cell Signal* 18(12):2089-97.

Herbst RS (2004). Review of epidermal growth factor receptor biology. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 59(2 Suppl):21-6.

Herrero R, Castellsague X, Pawlita M, Lissowska J, Kee F, Balaram P, et al. (2003). Human papillomavirus and oral cancer: the International Agency for Research on Cancer multicenter study. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 95(23):1772-83.

Hibi M, Hirano T (1998). Signal transduction through cytokine receptors. Int Rev Immunol 17(1-4):75-102.

Hicklin DJ, Ellis LM (2005). Role of the vascular endothelial growth factor pathway in tumor growth and angiogenesis. *J Clin Oncol* 23(5):1011-27.

Hirano T, Nakajima K, Hibi M (1997). Signaling mechanisms through gp130: a model of the cytokine system. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 8(4):241-52.

Hirano T (1998). Interleukin 6 and its receptor: ten years later. Int Rev Immunol 16(3-4):249-84.

Ho T, Wei Q, Sturgis EM (2007). Epidemiology of carcinogen metabolism genes and risk of squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. *Head Neck* 29(7):682-99.

Hobbs CG, Sterne JA, Bailey M, Heyderman RS, Birchall MA, Thomas SJ (2006). Human papillomavirus and head and neck cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Otolaryngol* 31(4):259-66.

Hodge DR, Hurt EM, Farrar WL (2005). The role of IL-6 and STAT3 in inflammation and cancer. *Eur J Cancer* 41(16):2502-12.

Hoffman JA, Giraudo E, Singh M, Zhang L, Inoue M, Porkka K, et al. (2003). Progressive vascular changes in a transgenic mouse model of squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Cell* 4(5):383-91.

Hollstein M, Sidransky D, Vogelstein B, Harris CC (1991). p53 mutations in human cancers. *Science* 253(5015):49-53.

Holmes WE, Lee J, Kuang WJ, Rice GC, Wood WI (1991). Structure and functional expression of a human interleukin-8 receptor. *Science* 253(5025):1278-80.

Huang S, Mills L, Mian B, Tellez C, McCarty M, Yang XD, et al. (2002). Fully humanized neutralizing antibodies to interleukin-8 (ABX-IL8) inhibit angiogenesis, tumor growth, and metastasis of human melanoma. *Am J Pathol* 161(1):125-34.

Hudes G, Carducci M, Tomczak P, Dutcher J, Figlin R, Kapoor A, et al. (2007). Temsirolimus, interferon alfa, or both for advanced renal-cell carcinoma. *N Engl J Med* 356(22):2271-81.

Hunter T (1997). Oncoprotein networks. Cell 88(3):333-46.

Hurwitz H, Fehrenbacher L, Novotny W, Cartwright T, Hainsworth J, Heim W, et al. (2004). Bevacizumab plus irinotecan, fluorouracil, and leucovorin for metastatic colorectal cancer. *N Engl J Med* 350(23):2335-42.

Hynes J, Jr., Leftheri K (2005). Small molecule p38 inhibitors: novel structural features and advances from 2002-2005. *Curr Top Med Chem* 5(10):967-85.

Ihle JN (1996). STATs: signal transducers and activators of transcription. *Cell* 84(3):331-4.

Inoue K, Slaton JW, Eve BY, Kim SJ, Perrotte P, Balbay MD, et al. (2000). Interleukin 8 expression regulates tumorigenicity and metastases in androgen-independent prostate cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 6(5):2104-19.

Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E, Hao Y, Xu J, Murray T, et al. (2008). Cancer statistics, 2008. *CA Cancer J Clin* 58(2):71-96.

Johnson GL, Lapadat R (2002). Mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways mediated by ERK, JNK, and p38 protein kinases. *Science* 298(5600):1911-2.

Johnson GL, Dohlman HG, Graves LM (2005). MAPK kinase kinases (MKKKs) as a target class for small-molecule inhibition to modulate signaling networks and gene expression. *Curr Opin Chem Biol* 9(3):325-31.

Jones AS, Morar P, Phillips DE, Field JK, Husband D, Helliwell TR (1995). Second primary tumors in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer* 75(6):1343-53.

Jost M, Kari C, Rodeck U (2000). The EGF receptor - an essential regulator of multiple epidermal functions. *Eur J Dermatol* 10(7):505-10.

Joyce JA, Laakkonen P, Bernasconi M, Bergers G, Ruoslahti E, Hanahan D (2003). Stage-specific vascular markers revealed by phage display in a mouse model of pancreatic islet tumorigenesis. *Cancer Cell* 4(5):393-403.

Joyce JA (2005). Therapeutic targeting of the tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Cell* 7(6):513-20.

Kalyankrishna S, Grandis JR (2006). Epidermal growth factor receptor biology in head and neck cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 24(17):2666-72.

Kamb A, Gruis NA, Weaver-Feldhaus J, Liu Q, Harshman K, Tavtigian SV, et al. (1994). A cell cycle regulator potentially involved in genesis of many tumor types. *Science* 264(5157):436-40.

Kanazawa T, Nishino H, Hasegawa M, Ohta Y, Iino Y, Ichimura K, et al. (2007). Interleukin-6 directly influences proliferation and invasion potential of head and neck cancer cells. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol* 264(7):815-21.

Kaneko T, Zhang Z, Mantellini MG, Karl E, Zeitlin B, Verhaegen M, et al. (2007). Bcl-2 orchestrates a cross-talk between endothelial and tumor cells that promotes tumor growth. *Cancer Res* 67(20):9685-93.

Karashima T, Sweeney P, Kamat A, Huang S, Kim SJ, Bar-Eli M, et al. (2003). Nuclear factor-kappaB mediates angiogenesis and metastasis of human bladder cancer through the regulation of interleukin-8. *Clin Cancer Res* 9(7):2786-97.

Kerbel R, Folkman J (2002). Clinical translation of angiogenesis inhibitors. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2(10):727-39.

Kerbel RS (1991). Inhibition of tumor angiogenesis as a strategy to circumvent acquired resistance to anti-cancer therapeutic agents. *Bioessays* 13(1):31-6.

Kerbel RS, Viloria-Petit A, Okada F, Rak J (1998). Establishing a link between oncogenes and tumor angiogenesis. *Mol Med* 4(5):286-95.

Kerbel RS (2008). Tumor angiogenesis. N Engl J Med 358(19):2039-49.

Kessler T, Fehrmann F, Bieker R, Berdel WE, Mesters RM (2007). Vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptor as drug targets in hematological malignancies. *Curr Drug Targets* 8(2):257-68.

Kishimoto T (2005). Interleukin-6: from basic science to medicine--40 years in immunology. *Annu Rev Immunol* 23(1-21.

Klagsbrun M, Takashima S, Mamluk R (2002). The role of neuropilin in vascular and tumor biology. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 515(33-48.

Klement GL, Yip TT, Cassiola F, Kikuchi L, Cervi D, Podust V, et al. (2009). Platelets actively sequester angiogenesis regulators. *Blood* 113(12):2835-42.

Kut C, Mac Gabhann F, Popel AS (2007). Where is VEGF in the body? A meta-analysis of VEGF distribution in cancer. *Br J Cancer* 97(7):978-85.

Laakkonen P, Waltari M, Holopainen T, Takahashi T, Pytowski B, Steiner P, et al. (2007). Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 3 is involved in tumor angiogenesis and growth. *Cancer Res* 67(2):593-9.

Lai SY, Childs EE, Xi S, Coppelli FM, Gooding WE, Wells A, et al. (2005). Erythropoietin-mediated activation of JAK-STAT signaling contributes to cellular invasion in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncogene* 24(27):4442-9.

Le Tourneau C, Siu LL (2008). Molecular-targeted therapies in the treatment of squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck. *Curr Opin Oncol* 20(3):256-63.

Leaman DW, Leung S, Li X, Stark GR (1996). Regulation of STAT-dependent pathways by growth factors and cytokines. *FASEB J* 10(14):1578-88.

Lee S, Chen TT, Barber CL, Jordan MC, Murdock J, Desai S, et al. (2007a). Autocrine VEGF signaling is required for vascular homeostasis. *Cell* 130(4):691-703.

Lee TH, Seng S, Sekine M, Hinton C, Fu Y, Avraham HK, et al. (2007b). Vascular endothelial growth factor mediates intracrine survival in human breast carcinoma cells through internally expressed VEGFR1/FLT1. *PLoS Med* 4(6):e186.

Leeman RJ, Lui VW, Grandis JR (2006). STAT3 as a therapeutic target in head and neck cancer. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* 6(3):231-41.

Li A, Dubey S, Varney ML, Dave BJ, Singh RK (2003). IL-8 directly enhanced endothelial cell survival, proliferation, and matrix metalloproteinases production and regulated angiogenesis. *J Immunol* 170(6):3369-76.

Liang WC, Wu X, Peale FV, Lee CV, Meng YG, Gutierrez J, et al. (2006). Cross-species vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-blocking antibodies completely inhibit the growth of human tumor xenografts and measure the contribution of stromal VEGF. *J Biol Chem* 281(2):951-61.

Liang X, Yang D, Hu J, Hao X, Gao J, Mao Z (2008). Hypoxia inducible factor-alpha expression correlates with vascular endothelial growth factor-C expression and lymphangiogenesis/angiogenesis in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Anticancer Res* 28(3A):1659-66.

Luo J, Manning BD, Cantley LC (2003). Targeting the PI3K-Akt pathway in human cancer: rationale and promise. *Cancer Cell* 4(4):257-62.

Ma WW, Adjei AA (2009). Novel agents on the horizon for cancer therapy. *CA Cancer J Clin* 59(2):111-37.

Manegold C (2008). Bevacizumab for the treatment of advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther* 8(5):689-99.

Mann EA, Spiro JD, Chen LL, Kreutzer DL (1992). Cytokine expression by head and neck squamous cell carcinomas. *Am J Surg* 164(6):567-73.

Manning AM, Davis RJ (2003). Targeting JNK for therapeutic benefit: from junk to gold? *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 2(7):554-65.

Mao L, Lee JS, Fan YH, Ro JY, Batsakis JG, Lippman S, et al. (1996). Frequent microsatellite alterations at chromosomes 9p21 and 3p14 in oral premalignant lesions and their value in cancer risk assessment. *Nat Med* 2(6):682-5.

Mao L, Hong WK, Papadimitrakopoulou VA (2004). Focus on head and neck cancer. *Cancer Cell* 5(4):311-6.

Massarelli E, Liu DD, Lee JJ, El-Naggar AK, Lo Muzio L, Staibano S, et al. (2005). Akt activation correlates with adverse outcome in tongue cancer. *Cancer* 104(11):2430-6.

Matta A, Ralhan R (2009). Overview of current and future biologically based targeted therapies in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Head Neck Oncol* 1(1):6.

Miller KD, Chap LI, Holmes FA, Cobleigh MA, Marcom PK, Fehrenbacher L, et al. (2005). Randomized phase III trial of capecitabine compared with bevacizumab plus capecitabine in patients with previously treated metastatic breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 23(4):792-9.

Mishima K, Inoue K, Hayashi Y (2002). Overexpression of extracellular-signal regulated kinases on oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Oral Oncol* 38(5):468-74.

Mizukami Y, Jo WS, Duerr EM, Gala M, Li J, Zhang X, et al. (2005). Induction of interleukin-8 preserves the angiogenic response in HIF-1alpha-deficient colon cancer cells. *Nat Med* 11(9):992-7.

Molinolo AA, Hewitt SM, Amornphimoltham P, Keelawat S, Rangdaeng S, Meneses Garcia A, et al. (2007). Dissecting the Akt/mammalian target of rapamycin signaling network: emerging results from the head and neck cancer tissue array initiative. *Clin Cancer Res* 13(17):4964-73.

Molinolo AA, Amornphimoltham P, Squarize CH, Castilho RM, Patel V, Gutkind JS (2009). Dysregulated molecular networks in head and neck carcinogenesis. *Oral Oncol* 45(4-5):324-34.

Moral M, Paramio JM (2008). Akt pathway as a target for therapeutic intervention in HNSCC. *Histol Histopathol* 23(10):1269-78.

Mork J, Lie AK, Glattre E, Hallmans G, Jellum E, Koskela P, et al. (2001). Human papillomavirus infection as a risk factor for squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck. *N Engl J Med* 344(15):1125-31.

Motzer RJ, Michaelson MD, Redman BG, Hudes GR, Wilding G, Figlin RA, et al. (2006). Activity of SU11248, a multitargeted inhibitor of vascular endothelial growth

factor receptor and platelet-derived growth factor receptor, in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. *J Clin Oncol* 24(1):16-24.

Motzer RJ, Hudes GR, Curti BD, McDermott DF, Escudier BJ, Negrier S, et al. (2007a). Phase I/II trial of temsirolimus combined with interferon alfa for advanced renal cell carcinoma. *J Clin Oncol* 25(25):3958-64.

Motzer RJ, Hutson TE, Tomczak P, Michaelson MD, Bukowski RM, Rixe O, et al. (2007b). Sunitinib versus interferon alfa in metastatic renal-cell carcinoma. *N Engl J Med* 356(2):115-24.

Munro J, Stott FJ, Vousden KH, Peters G, Parkinson EK (1999). Role of the alternative INK4A proteins in human keratinocyte senescence: evidence for the specific inactivation of p16INK4A upon immortalization. *Cancer Res* 59(11):2516-21.

Murphy PM, Tiffany HL (1991). Cloning of complementary DNA encoding a functional human interleukin-8 receptor. *Science* 253(5025):1280-3.

Muthuswamy SK, Gilman M, Brugge JS (1999). Controlled dimerization of ErbB receptors provides evidence for differential signaling by homo- and heterodimers. *Mol Cell Biol* 19(10):6845-57.

Normanno N, Bianco C, Strizzi L, Mancino M, Maiello MR, De Luca A, et al. (2005). The ErbB receptors and their ligands in cancer: an overview. *Curr Drug Targets* 6(3):243-57.

O'Reilly MS, Holmgren L, Shing Y, Chen C, Rosenthal RA, Moses M, et al. (1994). Angiostatin: a novel angiogenesis inhibitor that mediates the suppression of metastases by a Lewis lung carcinoma. *Cell* 79(2):315-28.

Olayioye MA, Beuvink I, Horsch K, Daly JM, Hynes NE (1999). ErbB receptor-induced activation of stat transcription factors is mediated by Src tyrosine kinases. *J Biol Chem* 274(24):17209-18.

Olayioye MA, Neve RM, Lane HA, Hynes NE (2000). The ErbB signaling network: receptor heterodimerization in development and cancer. *EMBO J* 19(13):3159-67.

Pai SI, Westra WH (2009). Molecular pathology of head and neck cancer: implications for diagnosis, prognosis, and treatment. *Annu Rev Pathol* (4):49-70.

Papadimitrakopoulou V, Izzo J, Lippman SM, Lee JS, Fan YH, Clayman G, et al. (1997). Frequent inactivation of p16INK4a in oral premalignant lesions. *Oncogene* 14(15):1799-803.

Park JE, Lenter MC, Zimmermann RN, Garin-Chesa P, Old LJ, Rettig WJ (1999). Fibroblast activation protein, a dual specificity serine protease expressed in reactive human tumor stromal fibroblasts. *J Biol Chem* 274(51):36505-12.

Parkin DM, Bray F, Ferlay J, Pisani P (2005). Global cancer statistics, 2002. *CA Cancer J Clin* 55(2):74-108.

Patel V, Lahusen T, Leethanakul C, Igishi T, Kremer M, Quintanilla-Martinez L, et al. (2002). Antitumor activity of UCN-01 in carcinomas of the head and neck is associated with altered expression of cyclin D3 and p27(KIP1). *Clin Cancer Res* 8(11):3549-60.

Poeta ML, Manola J, Goldwasser MA, Forastiere A, Benoit N, Califano JA, et al. (2007). TP53 mutations and survival in squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck. *N Engl J Med* 357(25):2552-61.

Pomerantz RG, Grandis JR (2003). The role of epidermal growth factor receptor in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Curr Oncol Rep* 5(2):140-6.

Pries R, Wollenberg B (2006). Cytokines in head and neck cancer. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 17(3):141-6.

Prince ME, Ailles LE (2008). Cancer stem cells in head and neck squamous cell cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 26(17):2871-5.

Quon H, Liu FF, Cummings BJ (2001). Potential molecular prognostic markers in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas. *Head Neck* 23(2):147-59.

Raingeaud J, Gupta S, Rogers JS, Dickens M, Han J, Ulevitch RJ, et al. (1995). Proinflammatory cytokines and environmental stress cause p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase activation by dual phosphorylation on tyrosine and threonine. *J Biol Chem* 270(13):7420-6.

Rak J, Yu JL, Kerbel RS, Coomber BL (2002). What do oncogenic mutations have to do with angiogenesis/vascular dependence of tumors? *Cancer Res* 62(7):1931-4.

Rakesh K, Agrawal DK (2005). Controlling cytokine signaling by constitutive inhibitors. *Biochem Pharmacol* 70(5):649-57.

Rastinejad F, Polverini PJ, Bouck NP (1989). Regulation of the activity of a new inhibitor of angiogenesis by a cancer suppressor gene. *Cell* 56(3):345-55.

Reed AL, Califano J, Cairns P, Westra WH, Jones RM, Koch W, et al. (1996). High frequency of p16 (CDKN2/MTS-1/INK4A) inactivation in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Res* 56(16):3630-3.

Reich NC, Liu L (2006). Tracking STAT nuclear traffic. Nat Rev Immunol 6(8):602-12.

Riedel F, Zaiss I, Herzog D, Gotte K, Naim R, Hormann K (2005). Serum levels of interleukin-6 in patients with primary head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Anticancer Res* 25(4):2761-5.

Roberts PJ, Der CJ (2007). Targeting the Raf-MEK-ERK mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade for the treatment of cancer. *Oncogene* 26(22):3291-310.

Rosin MP, Cheng X, Poh C, Lam WL, Huang Y, Lovas J, et al. (2000). Use of allelic loss to predict malignant risk for low-grade oral epithelial dysplasia. *Clin Cancer Res* 6(2):357-62.

Rubin Grandis J, Zeng Q, Drenning SD (2000). Epidermal growth factor receptor---mediated stat3 signaling blocks apoptosis in head and neck cancer. *Laryngoscope* 110(5 Pt 1):868-74.

Sandler A, Gray R, Perry MC, Brahmer J, Schiller JH, Dowlati A, et al. (2006). Paclitaxel-carboplatin alone or with bevacizumab for non-small-cell lung cancer. *N Engl J Med* 355(24):2542-50.

Sansal I, Sellers WR (2004). The biology and clinical relevance of the PTEN tumor suppressor pathway. *J Clin Oncol* 22(14):2954-63.

Schrag D (2004). The price tag on progress--chemotherapy for colorectal cancer. *N Engl J Med* 351(4):317-9.

Sebolt-Leopold JS, Herrera R (2004). Targeting the mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade to treat cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 4(12):937-47.

Seiwert TY, Haraf DJ, Cohen EE, Stenson K, Witt ME, Dekker A, et al. (2008). Phase I study of bevacizumab added to fluorouracil- and hydroxyurea-based concomitant chemoradiotherapy for poor-prognosis head and neck cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 26(10):1732-41.

Semenza GL (2003). Targeting HIF-1 for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 3(10):721-32.

Shekhar MP, Werdell J, Santner SJ, Pauley RJ, Tait L (2001). Breast stroma plays a dominant regulatory role in breast epithelial growth and differentiation: implications for tumor development and progression. *Cancer Res* 61(4):1320-6.

Shibuya M, Claesson-Welsh L (2006). Signal transduction by VEGF receptors in regulation of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. *Exp Cell Res* 312(5):549-60.

Shojaei F, Ferrara N (2008). Role of the microenvironment in tumor growth and in refractoriness/resistance to anti-angiogenic therapies. *Drug Resist Updat* 11(6):219-30.

Sidransky D (1995). Molecular genetics of head and neck cancer. *Curr Opin Oncol* 7(3):229-33.

Slaughter DP, Southwick HW, Smejkal W (1953). Field cancerization in oral stratified squamous epithelium; clinical implications of multicentric origin. *Cancer* 6(5):963-8.

Sok JC, Coppelli FM, Thomas SM, Lango MN, Xi S, Hunt JL, et al. (2006). Mutant epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFRvIII) contributes to head and neck cancer growth and resistance to EGFR targeting. *Clin Cancer Res* 12(17):5064-73.

Soker S, Takashima S, Miao HQ, Neufeld G, Klagsbrun M (1998). Neuropilin-1 is expressed by endothelial and tumor cells as an isoform-specific receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. *Cell* 92(6):735-45.

Somers KD, Merrick MA, Lopez ME, Incognito LS, Schechter GL, Casey G (1992). Frequent p53 mutations in head and neck cancer. *Cancer Res* 52(21):5997-6000.

Sriuranpong V, Park JI, Amornphimoltham P, Patel V, Nelkin BD, Gutkind JS (2003). Epidermal growth factor receptor-independent constitutive activation of STAT3 in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma is mediated by the autocrine/paracrine stimulation of the interleukin 6/gp130 cytokine system. *Cancer Res* 63(11):2948-56.

St Croix B, Rago C, Velculescu V, Traverso G, Romans KE, Montgomery E, et al. (2000). Genes expressed in human tumor endothelium. *Science* 289(5482):1197-202.

Stoler DL, Chen N, Basik M, Kahlenberg MS, Rodriguez-Bigas MA, Petrelli NJ, et al. (1999). The onset and extent of genomic instability in sporadic colorectal tumor progression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96(26):15121-6.

Strieter RM, Burdick MD, Mestas J, Gomperts B, Keane MP, Belperio JA (2006). Cancer CXC chemokine networks and tumour angiogenesis. *Eur J Cancer* 42(6):768-78.

Sturgis EM, Wei Q, Spitz MR (2004). Descriptive epidemiology and risk factors for head and neck cancer. *Semin Oncol* 31(6):726-33.

Talamini R, Bosetti C, La Vecchia C, Dal Maso L, Levi F, Bidoli E, et al. (2002). Combined effect of tobacco and alcohol on laryngeal cancer risk: a case-control study. *Cancer Causes Control* 13(10):957-64.

Taniguchi T (1995). Cytokine signaling through nonreceptor protein tyrosine kinases. *Science* 268(5208):251-5.

Tokunaga E, Oki E, Egashira A, Sadanaga N, Morita M, Kakeji Y, et al. (2008). Deregulation of the Akt pathway in human cancer. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets* 8(1):27-36.

Trepel M, Arap W, Pasqualini R (2002). In vivo phage display and vascular heterogeneity: implications for targeted medicine. *Curr Opin Chem Biol* 6(3):399-404.

van der Riet P, Nawroz H, Hruban RH, Corio R, Tokino K, Koch W, et al. (1994). Frequent loss of chromosome 9p21-22 early in head and neck cancer progression. *Cancer Res* 54(5):1156-8.

Venkatakrishnan G, Salgia R, Groopman JE (2000). Chemokine receptors CXCR-1/2 activate mitogen-activated protein kinase via the epidermal growth factor receptor in ovarian cancer cells. *J Biol Chem* 275(10):6868-75.

Verheul HM, Pinedo HM (2007). Possible molecular mechanisms involved in the toxicity of angiogenesis inhibition. *Nat Rev Cancer* 7(6):475-85.

Vignais ML, Sadowski HB, Watling D, Rogers NC, Gilman M (1996). Platelet-derived growth factor induces phosphorylation of multiple JAK family kinases and STAT proteins. *Mol Cell Biol* 16(4):1759-69.

Vivanco I, Sawyers CL (2002). The phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase AKT pathway in human cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2(7):489-501.

Waugh DJ, Wilson C (2008). The interleukin-8 pathway in cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 14(21):6735-41.

Westra WH, Sidransky D (1998). Phenotypic and genotypic disparity in premalignant lesions: of calm water and crocodiles. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 90(20):1500-1.

Wey JS, Fan F, Gray MJ, Bauer TW, McCarty MF, Somcio R, et al. (2005). Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 promotes migration and invasion in pancreatic carcinoma cell lines. *Cancer* 104(2):427-38.

Wiest T, Schwarz E, Enders C, Flechtenmacher C, Bosch FX (2002). Involvement of intact HPV16 E6/E7 gene expression in head and neck cancers with unaltered p53 status and perturbed pRb cell cycle control. *Oncogene* 21(10):1510-7.

Wilson KJ, Gilmore JL, Foley J, Lemmon MA, Riese DJ, 2nd (2009). Functional selectivity of EGF family peptide growth factors: implications for cancer. *Pharmacol Ther* 122(1):1-8.

Worsham MJ, Wolman SR, Carey TE, Zarbo RJ, Benninger MS, Van Dyke DL (1995). Common clonal origin of synchronous primary head and neck squamous cell carcinomas: analysis by tumor karyotypes and fluorescence in situ hybridization. *Hum Pathol* 26(3):251-61.

Wyckoff JB, Jones JG, Condeelis JS, Segall JE (2000). A critical step in metastasis: in vivo analysis of intravasation at the primary tumor. *Cancer Res* 60(9):2504-11.

Xia Z, Dickens M, Raingeaud J, Davis RJ, Greenberg ME (1995). Opposing effects of ERK and JNK-p38 MAP kinases on apoptosis. *Science* 270(5240):1326-31.

Yamatodani T, Ekblad L, Kjellen E, Johnsson A, Mineta H, Wennerberg J (2009). Epidermal growth factor receptor status and persistent activation of Akt and p44/42 MAPK pathways correlate with the effect of cetuximab in head and neck and colon cancer cell lines. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol* 135(3):395-402.

Yan L, Anderson GM, DeWitte M, Nakada MT (2006). Therapeutic potential of cytokine and chemokine antagonists in cancer therapy. *Eur J Cancer* 42(6):793-802.

Yang JC (2004). Bevacizumab for patients with metastatic renal cancer: an update. *Clin Cancer Res* 10(18 Pt 2):6367S-70S.

Yu Z, Weinberger PM, Sasaki C, Egleston BL, Speier WFt, Haffty B, et al. (2007). Phosphorylation of Akt (Ser473) predicts poor clinical outcome in oropharyngeal squamous cell cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 16(3):553-8.

Zhang Q, Thomas SM, Xi S, Smithgall TE, Siegfried JM, Kamens J, et al. (2004). SRC family kinases mediate epidermal growth factor receptor ligand cleavage, proliferation, and invasion of head and neck cancer cells. *Cancer Res* 64(17):6166-73.

Zhang W, Bhola N, Kalyankrishna S, Gooding W, Hunt J, Seethala R, et al. (2008). Kinin b2 receptor mediates induction of cyclooxygenase-2 and is overexpressed in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas. *Mol Cancer Res* 6(12):1946-56.

Zhang ZF, Morgenstern H, Spitz MR, Tashkin DP, Yu GP, Hsu TC, et al. (2000). Environmental tobacco smoking, mutagen sensitivity, and head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 9(10):1043-9.

CHAPTER II

CROSSTALK INITIATED BY ENDOTHELIAL CELLS ENHANCES MIGRATION AND INHIBITS ANOIKIS OF SQUAMOUS CELL CARCINOMA CELLS THROUGH STAT3/AKT/ERK SIGNALING

Abstract

It is well known that cancer cells secrete angiogenic factors to recruit and sustain tumor vascular networks. However, little is known about the effect of endothelial cellsecreted factors on the phenotype and behavior of tumor cells. The hypothesis underlying this study is that endothelial cells are able to initiate signaling pathways in tumor cells. Here, we observed that soluble mediators from primary human dermal microvascular endothelial cells (HDMEC) induce phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK in a panel of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) cells (OSCC3, UM-SCC-1, UM-SCC-17B, UM-SCC-74A). Gene expression analysis demonstrated that interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-8 (CXCL8), and epidermal growth factor (EGF) are upregulated in endothelial cells co-cultured with HNSCC. Blockade of endothelial cell-derived IL-6, CXCL8, or EGF by gene silencing or with neutralizing antibodies inhibited the activation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK in tumor cells, respectively. It has been demonstrated that Bcl-2 is upregulated in tumor microvessels in patients with HNSCC. Here, we observed that Bcl-2 signaling induces expression of IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF, providing a mechanism for the upregulation of these cytokines in tumor-associated endothelial cells. This study expands the contribution of endothelial cells to the pathobiology of tumor cells. It unveils a new mechanism in which endothelial cells function as the initiators of a molecular crosstalk that enhances the survival and promotes the migration of tumor cells.

Introduction

Tumor angiogenesis requires active interaction between endothelial and tumor cells, and plays an important role in cancer progression (Folkman, 2002). However, emphasis has been placed on the assumption that tumor cell-initiated signals are the dominant events in tumor angiogenesis and tumor growth. Recent studies have demonstrated signaling crosstalks between tumor cells and endothelial cells that promote tumor growth. In cell contact-dependent interactions, Jagged1 expressed by squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) cells activates Notch signaling in adjacent endothelial cells and enhances tumor growth (Zeng et al., 2005). In a cell contact-independent system, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) secreted by tumor-associated endothelial cells induces Bcl-2, growth-related oncogene (GRO)- α (CXCL1), and interleukin-8 (CXCL8) expression in SCC cells (Kaneko et al., 2007). Notably, these endothelial cell-initiated signals significantly enhanced tumor growth in vivo (Kaneko et al., 2007). Collectively, this work indicates that the impact of endothelial cells in the pathobiology of cancer is not limited to making angiogenic blood vessels in response to tumor cell-initiated signals. The identification and characterization of the signaling events initiated by tumorassociated endothelial cells may have important implications in human cancer therapy.

Squamous cell carcinoma is a common cancer in the gastro-intestinal track, lung, skin, and head and neck region. For example, more than 500,000 new patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinomas (HNSCC) are diagnosed each year worldwide (Chin et al., 2006; Jemal et al., 2008). The 5-year survival rate for patients with HNSCC is one of the lowest among major cancer sites, and has not improved significantly over the last 30 years despite extensive basic and clinical research (Forastiere et al., 2001; Jemal et al., 2008; Mao et al., 2004). Today, we know that several intracellular signaling molecules are key orchestrators of SCC progression. Among them, the signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) has been described to be constitutively active in HNSCC and in several other epithelial malignancies (Grandis et al., 1998; Leeman et al., 2006). Altered expression or mutation of components of the phosphoinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt pathway has also been implicated in tumorigenesis (Luo et al., 2003; Vivanco and Sawyers, 2002). In addition, the mitogen-activating protein kinase (MAPK) and extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) pathway has been described as an important regulator of tumor growth and a key target for cancer therapy (Friday and Adjei, 2008; Roberts and Der, 2007). These three signaling molecules, *i.e.* STAT3, Akt, and ERK, play critical roles in the control of cell cycle, survival, proliferation, and migration of tumor cells. Notably, deregulation of any of these pathways has been shown to drive oncogenic transformation (Chang et al., 2003; Song and Grandis, 2000; Zeng et al., 2002). However, the impact of endothelial cell-initiated signaling on the activation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK signaling in tumor cells is unclear.

It is known that vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) induces Bcl-2 expression in endothelial cells, and that Bcl-2 expression level in tumor-associated

endothelial cells is directly correlated with tumor angiogenesis and tumor growth (Kaneko et al., 2007; Nor et al., 1999; Nor et al., 2001a). Notably, Bcl-2 gene expression is approximately 60,000-fold higher in the endothelial cells lining tumor blood vessels in patients with HNSCC, as compared to the endothelial cells from normal oral mucosa (Kaneko et al., 2007). It is also known that Bcl-2 induces CXC chemokines expression by endothelial cells, which results in enhanced HNSCC invasiveness and local recurrence (Karl et al., 2005; Warner et al., 2008). It has been shown that Bcl-2 signals through nuclear factor kB (NF-kB) to induce CXCL1 and CXCL8 expression in endothelial cells (Karl et al., 2005). However, the effect of Bcl-2 in the expression of IL-6 (known to activate the STAT3 signaling pathway) and EGF (known to activate the ERK signaling pathway) is unknown. In this study, we unveil a signaling pathway that is initiated by endothelial cells and that results in the activation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK in HNSCC cells. Notably, blockade of endothelial cell-initiated signaling had a direct impact on tumor cell survival and migration.

Materials and Methods

Cell Culture

Oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC3, gift of M. Lingen, University of Chicago), University of Michigan-squamous cell carcinoma (UM-SCC-1, UM-SCC-17B, and UM-SCC-74A, gift of T. Carey, University of Michigan) were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 100 U/ml penicillin, and 100 µg/ml streptomycin

(Invitrogen). Primary human dermal microvascular endothelial cells (HDMEC; Cambrex, Walkersville, MD) were cultured in endothelial growth medium-2 (EGM2-MV; Cambrex). Pools of HDMEC stably transduced with Bcl-2 (HDMEC-Bcl-2) and HDMEC-LXSN (empty vector controls) were generated with retroviruses and cultured in EGM2-MV supplemented with 250 µg/ml G418 (Cellgro, Mediatech Inc., Herndon, VA), as described (Nor et al., 1999; Nor et al., 2001a). Conditioned medium (CM) from HDMEC was prepared in endothelial cell medium (EBM) without supplementation with growth factors or serum from 24-hour cultures.

Non-contact co-culture assays

 2×10^5 tumor cells (OSCC3, UM-SCC-17B, UM-SCC-1, or UM-SCC-74A) were plated in 1 µm-pore cell culture inserts containing PET (polyethylene terephthalate) track-etched membranes (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ) in 6-well plates (Multiwell; Becton Dickinson). HDMEC (1 x 10⁵) were cultured in the bottom wells of the Transwell system. Serum-free endothelial basal medium (EBM) or EGM2-MV was used for these co-culture experiments. Total RNA and protein from both endothelial and tumor cells was collected 24 hours after cells were combined, and microarrays or western blots were performed.

Stable short hairpin RNA (shRNA) transduction

Lentiviruses expressing a short hairpin RNA (shRNA) construct for silencing IL-6, CXCL8, or EGF (Vector Core, University of Michigan) were generated in human embryonic kidney cells (293T) transfected by the calcium phosphate method, as described (Kaneko et al., 2007). A scrambled oligonucleotide sequence (shRNA-C) was used as control. Supernatants were collected 48 hours after transfection and used to infect HDMEC in 1:1 dilution medium containing 4 μ g/ml polybrene (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). Cells were selected and maintained in EGM2-MV supplemented with 1 μ g/ml puromycin (InvivoGen, San Diego, CA). Downregulation of IL-6, CXCL8, or EGF expression was confirmed by ELISA.

Western blots

8 x 10⁵ OSCC3, UM-SCC-1, UM-SCC-17B, or UM-SCC-74A were plated in 60 mm dishes, starved overnight, and exposed to HDMEC conditioned medium (CM) or EBM for the indicated time points. Alternatively, tumor cells were exposed to HDMEC CM containing 0.1-2 µg/ml anti-IL-6, anti-CXCL8, anti-EGF, or IgG isotype control (R & D Systems); or CM collected from HDMEC-shRNA-IL-6, HDMEC-shRNA-CXCL8, HDMEC-shRNA-EGF, or HDMEC-shRNA-C. Tumor cells were also exposed to 1-50 ng/ml rhIL-6 (Biosource, Camarillo, CA), 1-100 ng/ml rhCXCL8, or 1-100 rhEGF (R & D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) for 30 minutes. Signaling pathways were blocked by preincubating tumor cells for 1 to 2 hours with 0.5-20 µM Stattic (STAT3 inhibitor V, Calbiochem, San Diego, CA), 5-100 µM LY294002 (PI3 kinase inhibitor, Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA), or 5-100 µM U0126 (MEK1/2 inhibitor, Cell Signaling), and exposed to HDMEC CM. Protein (30 µg) was electrophoresed on SDS-polyacrylamide gels and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. Primary antibodies were: mouse antihuman phospho-STAT3, rabbit anti-human STAT3, rabbit anti-human phospho-Akt, rabbit anti-human Akt, rabbit anti-human phospho-ERK1/2, mouse anti-human ERK1/2

(Cell Signaling); rabbit anti-human VEGFR1, rabbit anti-human IL-6R, rabbit antihuman EGFR (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA); mouse anti-human gp130 (Biosource, Camarillo, CA); mouse anti-human CXCR1, rabbit anti-human CXCR2 (Abcam, Cambridge, MA); hamster anti-human Bcl-2 (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA); mouse anti-glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH; Chemicon, Millipore, Billerca, MA). Immunoreactive proteins were visualized by SuperSignal West Pico chemiluminescent substrate (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL).

GEArray RNA Microarrays

Gene expression of tumor cells (OSCC3, UM-SCC-17B, UM-SCC-1A, or UM-SCC-74A) co-cultured with HDMEC was compared with tumor cells cultured alone using GEArray Q serties (SuperArray Bioscience Corporation, Frederick, MD). RNA was purified using the RNeasy kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) and 3 µg total RNA was analyzed using Human Signaling Transduction in Cancer and Human Angiogenesis gene arrays, according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Affymetrix Microarray

Total RNA was isolated from HDMEC cultured alone or co-cultured with OSCC3 using Trizol (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). The RNA was purified using the RNeasy kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) and 10 µg total RNA was used to perform microarray analysis on Human Genome U133 Plus 2.0 (Affymetrix, Santa Clara, CA). Briefly, cDNA was synthesized from total RNA (One-Cycle cDNA Synthesis Kit, Affymetrix) and in vitro transcription was followed to make biotin labeled cRNA (IVT Labeling Kit, Affymetrix).

Fragmented cRNA was hybridized with microarray. After microarray washing, staining, and scanning, data was collected and further analyzed using Data Mining software and NetAffx Analysis Center (Affymetrix).

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

Supernatants of 24-hour endothelial or tumor cell cultures were collected and centrifuged to eliminate debris. IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF expression was determined using ELISA kits (Quantikine; R & D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Data were normalized by cell number.

Sulforhodamine B Cell Proliferation Assays

OSCC3 (2 x 10^3) were seeded in 96-well plates (Becton Dickinson) and exposed to EBM, HDMEC conditioned medium (CM) containing 1 µg/ml anti-IL-6, anti-CXCL8, anti-EGF neutralizing antibodies, or IgG isotype control. Alternatively, tumor cells were exposed to CM from HDMEC-shRNA-IL-6, HDMEC-shRNA-CXCL8, HDMECshRNA-EGF, or HDMEC-shRNA-C. Tumor cells were also exposed to HDMEC CM containing 5 µM Stattic (Calbiochem), 10 µM LY294002, 10 µM U0126 (Cell Signaling), or DMSO vehicle control. After 24, 48, or 72 hours, cells were fixed with 10% trichloracetic acid and stained with 0.4% sulforhodamine B (SRB) solution as previously described (Zeitlin et al., 2006). Plates were read in a microplate reader at 565 nm (TECAN, Salzburg, Austria).

Migration Assays

HDMEC conditioned medium (CM) was pre-incubated with 1 μ g/ml anti-IL-6, anti-CXCL8, anti-EGF, or IgG control (R & D Systems) for 1 hour, and 400 μ l of CM was added to 24-well companion plates (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA). Alternatively, CM collected from HDMEC-shRNA-IL-6, HDMEC-shRNA-CXCL8, HDMEC-shRNA-EGF, or HDMEC-shRNA-C was used. OSCC3 (2 x 10⁵) were serum-starved overnight, loaded onto 8 μ m pore-sized cell culture inserts (Becton Dickinson), and allowed to migrate for 24 hours towards HDMEC CM. In addition, OSCC3 were pre-incubated for 1 to 2 hours with 5 μ M Stattic (Calbiochem), 10 μ M LY294002, 10 μ M U0126 (Cell Signaling), or DMSO vehicle control. Unconditioned EBM was used as negative control. Migrated cells were trypsinized, collected, and stained with 2 μ M Cell Tracker Green (Invitrogen) for 1 hour. Fluorescence was read at 485/535 nm in a microplate reader (Tecan, Salzburg, Austria).

Survival Assays

OSCC3 (3 X 10^5) were seeded in 6-well ultra-low attachment plates (Corning Incorporated, Corning, NY) using EBM, HDMEC conditioned medium (CM) containing 1 µg/ml anti-IL-6, anti-CXCL8, anti-EGF, or IgG control (R & D Systems); CM from HDMEC-shRNA-IL-6, HDMEC-shRNA-CXCL8, HDMEC-shRNA-EGF, or HDMECshRNA-C; or HDMEC CM containing 5 µM Stattic (Calbiochem), 10 µM LY294002, 10 µM U0126 (Cell Signaling), or DMSO vehicle control. OSCC3 seeded in regular 6-well plates (Becton Dickinson) were used as positive control. After 24 hours, propidium iodide staining followed by flow cytometry was used to determine the percentage of dead cells, as described (Nor et al., 2002). In addition, percentage of apoptotic cells was determined by Trypan blue (Gibco, Invitrogen Corporation, Grand Island, NY) exclusion method after 24 to 48 hours.

Statistical analyses

T-tests or one-way analysis of variance was performed using the SigmaStat 2.0 software (SPSS; Chicago, IL). Statistical significance was determined at p<0.001.

Results

Endothelial cell-secreted factors induce phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells

The overall hypothesis underlying this study is that endothelial cell-secreted factors initiate signaling pathways in tumor. To begin to address this hypothesis, we exposed a panel of head and neck tumor cells, *i.e.* OSCC3 (Figure 2.1A), UM-SCC-17B (Figure 2.1B), UM-SCC-1 (Figure 2.1C), or UM-SCC-74A (Figure 2.1D) to serum-free endothelial cell (HDMEC) conditioned medium (CM) and analyzed the phosphorylation levels of key signaling molecules over time. We observed that STAT3, Akt, and ERK were consistently phosphorylated in the tumor cells upon exposure to endothelial cell CM, as compared to tumor cells treated with unconditioned medium (Figure 2.1). The induction of phosphorylation by endothelial cell CM was observed primarily between 15 minutes and 1 hour, decreasing after 4 to 24 hours as expected. The four tumor cell lines that we tested showed different phosphorylation levels upon exposure to HDMEC CM, but the trends among the cell lines were similar. To verify the results of the CM

experiments with a second experimental model, we used a non-contact co-culture system with HDMEC and HNSCC cells. Within one hour, STAT3, Akt, and ERK phosphorylation was enhanced in OSCC3 co-cultured with HDMEC, as compared to OSCC3 in single culture (Figure 2.2A). Notably, even after 24 hours in co-culture the phosphorylation status of STAT3 was still upregulated in two (out of four) HNSCC cell lines tested here (Figure 2.2B). Collectively, these results showed that endothelial cell-secreted factors induce STAT3, Akt, and ERK phosphorylation in HNSCC cells.

IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF are upregulated in endothelial cells co-cultured with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells

In search for putative factors secreted by endothelial cells that could lead to STAT3, Akt, and ERK phosphorylation, we performed an Affymetrix microarray comparing the gene expression profile of HDMEC cultured alone with HDMEC cocultured with OSCC3. We observed that IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF were upregulated in HDMEC when co-cultured with OSCC3 (Figure 2.3A). We then analyzed whether the tumor cells express the receptors for IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF. All tumor cells tested here express IL-6R and gp130 (receptors for IL-6); CXCR1 and CXCR2 (receptors for CXCL8); and EGFR (receptor for EGF) (Figure 2.3B). We selected OSCC3 cells for most of the remaining experiments presented here, and used a second HNSCC cell line to verify reproducibility of results of key experiments. Next, we compared the expression levels of IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF in endothelial and tumor cells. Since it is known that HNSCC cells secret high levels of VEGF (Eisma et al., 1997), we exposed HDMEC to VEGF and evaluated the impact of this treatment on the expression of IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF. Notably, the expression of IL-6 and CXCL8, but not EGF, was upregulated in endothelial cells treated with VEGF (Figure 2.3C). We observed that IL-6 induced phosphorylation of STAT3, CXCL8 enhanced phosphorylation of Akt and ERK compared with untreated group (first lane), and EGF enhanced phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK (Figure 2.3D). We also exposed OSCC3 to the combination of IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF and observed similar signaling trends as compared to CM treatment (Figure 2.3E)

Effect of endothelial cell-secreted IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF on the phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells

To evaluate the role of these cytokines on endothelial cell-initiated signaling pathways in tumor cells, we exposed OSCC3 to HDMEC CM in the presence of neutralizing antibodies to IL-6, CXCL8, or EGF, and analyzed phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK. Blockade of IL-6 in HDMEC CM blocked STAT3 phosphorylation in OSCC3 but had no effect on the phosphorylation levels of Akt and ERK, as compared with IgG controls (Figure 2.4A). Blockade of CXCL8 in HDMEC CM slightly decreased phosphorylation levels of STAT3 and Akt, but had no significant effect on ERK (Figure 2.4A). Finally, blockade of EGF in HDMEC CM eliminated ERK phosphorylation in OSCC3 compared with IgG control, while had no effect on STAT3 and Akt phosphorylation levels (Figure 2.4A). To evaluate specifically the role of endothelial cell initiated events, we silenced expression of IL-6, CXCL8, or EGF in HDMEC. The effectiveness of the downregulation was verified by ELISA (Figure 2.4B). OSCC3 were then exposed to CM from HDMEC-shRNA-IL-6, HDMEC-shRNA-

CXCL8, HDMEC-shRNA-EGF, or control HDMEC-shRNA-C. Downregulation of IL-6 and EGF in endothelial cells resulted in inhibition of phosphorylation of STAT3 and ERK in tumor cells, respectively (Figure 2.4C). However, downregulation of CXCL8 in endothelial cells did not result in an observable inhibition of Akt in the tumor cells, presumably because HDMEC-shRNA-CXCL8 cells still secreted substantial amounts of this protein.

Bcl-2 signaling induces IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF expression in endothelial cells

To begin to understand the mechanisms involved in the upregulation of IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF in the endothelial cells, we evaluated a potential role for Bcl-2 signaling. Previous work has shown that tumor cell-secreted VEGF induces Bcl-2 expression in endothelial cells, and that upregulation of Bcl-2 in microvascular endothelial cells is sufficient to enhance tumor progression (Nor et al., 1999; Nor et al., 2001a). Notably, Bcl-2 is significantly upregulated in the endothelial cells of head and neck tumor microvessels (Kaneko et al., 2007). We have also shown that Bcl-2 upregulates CXCL1 and CXCL8 expression in endothelial cells through the IKK/IkB/NF-kB pathway (Karl et al., 2005), and it is known that NF-kB directly stimulates the transcription of several cytokines and growth factors (Karin et al., 2002). These observations led to the hypothesis that Bcl-2 induces expression of IL-6 and EGF in endothelial cells. To test this hypothesis, we generated pools of endothelial cells overexpressing Bcl-2 (HDMEC-Bcl-2) and empty vector controls (HDMEC-LXSN) (Figure 2.5A). HDMEC-Bcl-2 secreted significantly higher levels of IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF than HDMEC-LXSN (Figure 2.5B). Next, we analyzed phosphorylation levels of STAT3, Akt, and ERK in OSCC3 when exposed to CM collected from HDMEC-LXSN and HDMEC-Bcl-2. At initial time points (*i.e.* 15 minutes) the phosphorylation levels induced by HDMEC-LXSN and HDMEC-Bcl-2 CM were similar (Figure 2.5C). However, at later time points, phosphorylation of STAT3 (4 and 24 hours) and ERK (4 hours) was higher when OSCC3 cells were exposed to HDMEC-Bcl-2 CM than in OSCC3 exposed to HDMEC-LXSN CM (Figure 2.5C). Collectively, these results showed that Bcl-2 signaling induces expression of IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF in endothelial cells. Moreover, Bcl-2 expression levels in the endothelial cells had a significant impact on the phosphorylation status of STAT3 and ERK, but not Akt, in the tumor cells.

Endothelial cell-secreted factors enhance the motility and prevent anoikis of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells

To understand the biological impact of endothelial cell-induced tumor cell STAT3, Akt, and ERK phosphorylation, we exposed the OSCC3 to HDMEC CM containing inhibitors of these pathways and evaluated tumor cell proliferation, survival, and migration. We used increasing concentrations of Stattic (STAT3 inhibitor), LY294002 (PI3K/Akt inhibitor), or U0126 (MEK/ERK inhibitor) (Figure 2.6A), and selected the lowest dose able to inhibit activation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK to carry out these experiments. Viability experiments showed that these dosages were not cytotoxic (data not shown). No difference was observed in HNSCC proliferation when cells were exposed to HDMEC CM for up to 72 hours, as compared to exposure to unconditioned medium. Blockade of IL-6, CXCL8, or EGF in the CM using neutralizing antibodies (Figure 2.7A) or shRNA in HDMEC (Figure 2.7B) did not affect HNSCC proliferation.

As expected, direct blockade of STAT3, Akt, or ERK pathways with chemical inhibitors decreased tumor cell proliferation (Figure 2.7C). Notably, HDMEC CM had a significant effect on tumor cell survival. To analyze the effect of endothelial cell derived factors on tumor cell survival we cultured OSCC3 cells in extra low attachment plates. The percentage of dead cells was analyzed by flow cytometry (Figure 2.6) or by cell counting (Figure 2.8). The number of dead cells was significantly higher in low attachment plates in EBM compared to normal cell culture plates (Figure 2.6B; Figure 2.8). CM from HDMEC protected OSCC3 from anoikis induced by preventing the attachment of the tumor cells to the plate (Figure 2.6B; Figure 2.8). Notably, blockade of IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF in the CM using neutralizing antibodies (Figure 2.6B, a; Figure 2.8A, a-b) or gene silencing in HDMEC (Figure 2.6B, b; Figure 2.8B, a-b) inhibited the protective effect mediated by endothelial cells. Blockade of STAT3, Akt, or ERK activity with Stattic, LY294002, or U0126 showed similar results (Figure 2.6B, c; Figure 2.8C, a-b). To evaluate the effect of endothelial cell-secreted IL-6, CXCL8, or EGF on tumor cell migration we also used two experimental strategies. Blockade of IL-6, CXCL8, or EGF with neutralizing antibodies (Figure 2.6C, a), or shRNA in HDMEC (Figure 2.6C, b) inhibited migration of OSCC3, as compared to controls. In addition, blockade of STAT3, Akt, or ERK using Stattic, LY294002, or U0126 also inhibited OSCC3 migration (Figure 2.6C, c). Collectively, these data demonstrate that endothelial cell-initiated signaling has a significant impact on tumor cell survival and migration, two critical elements of the pathobiology of HNSCC.
Discussion

This study suggests a new paradigm for endothelial cell and tumor cell interactions in the tumor microenvironment. We demonstrate here that endothelial cells play an active role in establishing tumor cell phenotypes that are critical for the pathobiology of cancers, namely, tumor cell survival and migration. Several reports suggest a role for inflammation, extracellular matrix, macrophages, and stromal fibroblasts in the initiation and progression of carcinomas (Bhowmick and Moses, 2005; Coussens and Werb, 2002; Halin et al., 2009). However, the role of endothelial cells in activating oncogenic signaling pathways in tumor cells is just starting to be unveiled. Notably, the current paradigm is that tumor cell-initiated signaling are the predominant. Yet, this study provides evidence for endothelial cells as key players in the determination of the tumor cell phenotype.

We observed that endothelial cell-initiated signals activate three key intracellular signaling molecules, namely STAT3, Akt, and ERK in HNSCC. The role of these pathways in cancer has been extensively studied. STAT3 is activated in a wide variety of cancers including HNSCC. Notably, studies have consistently demonstrated an essential role for STAT3 in tumor progression (Buettner et al., 2002; Masuda et al., 2007; Nikitakis et al., 2004). The Akt signaling network is considered a key determinant of the biological aggressiveness of tumors. PI3K/Akt is often activated in HNSCC (Fenic et al., 2007; Opel et al., 2007). And finally, ERK is one of the most important signaling molecules in the regulating cell proliferation and is overexpressed in a variety of tumors, including HNSCC (Mishima et al., 2002). The results of our study suggest that

endothelial cells play an active role in the activation of these pathways in HNSCC. Our results demonstrated that STAT3, Akt, and ERK were phosphorylated in tumor cells without requiring cell contact. These results suggested that endothelial cell-secreted factors were able to activate these signaling pathways in the tumor cells. This is in line with observations from other research groups that have characterized soluble factors as key regulators of tumorigenesis (Balkwill, 2004; van der Horst et al., 2008; Vicari and Caux, 2002). One of the challenges of our study was to find out which factors were mediating these effects in the tumor cells. Affymetrix microarrays revealed several genes upregulated in endothelial cells when co-cultured with tumor cells. Several validation experiments, together with the existing knowledge of the effects of IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF on STAT3, Akt, and ERK signaling, led us to focus on these three soluble mediators. Although previous studies have already shown that endothelial cells overexpressing Bcl-2 secrete high levels CXCL8 (Karl et al., 2005), the role of endothelial cell-secreted IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF on activation of signaling pathways in tumor cells have not been described. IL-6 is a cytokine that affects a variety of biological functions including immune response, inflammation, hematopoiesis, and oncogenesis by regulating cell growth, survival, and differentiation (Hirano et al., 2000; Van Snick, 1990). IL-6 is one of the major activators of STAT3 signaling (Hirano et al., 2000; Hodge et al., 2005; Huang, 2007), although it can also stimulate PI3K/Akt and ERK pathways (Kamimura et al., 2003). Recent studies correlate IL-6 levels in HNSCC patients with poor prognosis (Duffy et al., 2008; Heimdal et al., 2008; Squarize et al., 2006). CXCL8 is a member of CXC chemokine family that contributes to cancer progression through several mechanisms, including the promotion of angiogenesis (Koch et al., 1992; Strieter

et al., 1995). Many cancer cells constitutively secrete CXCL8 and its receptors CXCR1 and CXCR2, and it has been established that CXCL8 is an autocrine growth factor for a variety of human cancer cells (Zhu and Woll, 2005). CXCL8 can also activate STAT3, PI3K/Akt, and ERK signaling pathways (Burger et al., 2005; Fuhler et al., 2005). Overexpression of EGFR has been reported in the majority of HNSCC cases (Grandis and Tweardy, 1993; Grandis et al., 1998). Notably, downstream intracellular targets of EGFR include STAT3, PI3K/Akt, and ERK pathways (Kijima et al., 2002; Squarize et al., 2006; Sriuranpong et al., 2003). One concludes from these studies that each one of these three cytokines has effects that may converge towards these three pathways in tumor cells. However, under our experimental conditions we observed that the primary effect of endothelial cell-derived IL-6 was the activation of STAT3, the primary effect of CXCL8 was on the activity of Akt, and the primary effect of EGF was on ERK activity in HNSCC.

Previous work has shown that Bcl-2 expression levels in endothelial cells have a direct effect on tumor growth (Kaneko et al., 2007; Nor et al., 2001a). Here, we demonstrate that IL-6 and EGF are upregulated in endothelial cells overexpressing Bcl-2, and that CM from these cells further enhanced phosphorylation of STAT3 and ERK, two pathways implicated in the survival of tumor cells. Notably, it has been previously demonstrate that the apoptotic index of tumors vascularized with endothelial cells overexpressing Bcl-2 was lower than the index in tumors vascularized with control endothelial cells (Nor et al., 2001a). At that time, the data were interpreted as simply an increase in endothelial cell survival and tumor microvessel density directly due to the upregulation of Bcl-2 expression in these cells. However, the data presented here suggest

that the activation of major survival pathways for SCC mediated by endothelial cellsecreted factors may also have contributed to those results.

It was critical to us to understand the biological significance of endothelial cellinduced activation of the STAT3/Akt/ERK pathways in squamous cell carcinomas. Surprisingly, we did not observe a significant effect in tumor cell proliferation when we blocked endothelial cell derived IL-6, CXCL8, or EGF. We attributed these negative results to the exceedingly high proliferation rate of OSCC3. We reasoned that these cells have such a high basal mitotic activity that blockade of one additional mitogenic pathway derived from the endothelial cells is not sufficient to cause a significant change in OSCC3 cell numbers. On the other hand, we observed that endothelial cell secreted factors significantly protected the tumor cells from anoikis. Notably, this protective effect was partially inhibited when we downregulated IL-6, CXCL8, or EGF in the endothelial cells. And finally, considering that IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF have been characterized as chemotactic factors, we studied their effect on tumor cell motility using migration assays. These experiments demonstrated that endothelial cells are capable of generating a chemotactic gradient that induces tumor cell motility towards the blood vessels. Such findings may help us to understand the mechanisms underlying the process of field cancerization, which involves the lateral spread of malignant disease and is commonly observed in patients with head and neck cancer (Ha and Califano, 2003; Warner et al., 2008). We hypothesize that endothelial cells play a key role in field cancerization by providing chemotactic signals that enhance the invasive phenotype of tumor cells, and by activating survival signals that protect the tumor cells against anoikis once these cells are displaced from their original microenvironment.

65

Collectively, these data led to a new model for crosstalk between endothelial and SCC cells. It is known that tumor cell-secreted VEGF binds to its cognate receptors in endothelial cells and induce expression of Bcl-2 (Kaneko et al., 2007; Nor et al., 1999). Bcl-2 enhances IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF synthesis and secretion by endothelial cells. The endothelial cell-secreted factors induce activation of the STAT3, Akt, and ERK signaling pathways in tumor cells. The biological outcome of this crosstalk is a significant increase in tumor cell survival and migration. We postulate that better understanding of the complexity of signal transduction processes between tumor cells and other cells from the tumor microenvironment may help to optimize the overall therapeutic benefit of molecularly targeted drugs. The fact that tumor-associated endothelial cells are readily accessible to drugs injected in the circulation makes them a particularly attractive therapeutic target. The work presented here demonstrated that blockade of specific pathways in endothelial cells may have a direct impact on tumor cell survival and migration, two critical components of the pathobiology of squamous cell carcinomas.



Figure 2.1. Endothelial cell-derived soluble factors activate STAT3, Akt, and ERK pathways in tumor cells. (A) OSCC3; (B) UM-SCC-17B; (C) UM-SCC-1; or (D) UM-SCC-74A were serum-starved overnight and exposed to HDMEC conditioned medium (CM) or control unconditioned medium (EBM) for the indicated time points. Phosphorylated and total STAT3, Akt, and ERK were detected by Western Blot.



Figure 2.2. Tumor cells co-cultured with endothelial cells show higher phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK compared to tumor cells cultured alone. (A) Western Blot for phosphorylated and total STAT3, Akt, and ERK in OSCC3 cultured alone or co-cultured with HDMEC for 1 hour. (B) Western Blot for phosphorylated and total STAT3 in OSCC3, UM-SCC-17B, UM-SCC-1, or UM-SCC-74A cultured alone or co-cultured with HDMEC for 24 hours.



Figure 2.3. Endothelial cells show upregulated IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF expression when co-cultured with tumor cells. (A) Genome wide mRNA expression analysis was performed in HDMEC co-cultured with OSCC3, using HDMEC cultured alone (single culture) as controls. Black bars represent the fold-increase of IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF expression in HDMEC co-cultured with OSCC3 compared with HDMEC cultured alone (gray bars). (B) Western Blot for IL-6R, gp130, CXCR1, CXCR2, EGFR, and VEGFR2 expression in HDMEC, OSCC3, UM-SCC-17B, UM-SCC-1A, and UM-SCC-74A. (C) ELISA for IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF expression in HDMEC, OSCC3, or HDMEC exposed to 50 ng/ml VEGF₁₆₅. Asterisk depicts significant difference (p<0.001), as compared to HDMEC. (D) Western Blot for phosphorylated and total STAT3, Akt, and ERK in OSCC3 serum-starved overnight and exposed to 1-50 ng/ml rhIL-6, 1-100 ng/ml rhCXCL8, or 1-100 ng/ml rhEGF for 30 minutes. (E) Western Blot for phosphorylated and total STAT3, Akt, and ERK in OSCC3 serum-starved overnight and exposed to 20 ng/ml rhIL-6, 50 ng/ml rhCXCL8, 50 ng/ml rhEGF, or the combination of these three recombinant proteins, compared to OSCC3 exposed to HDMEC CM.



Figure 2.4. Effect of endothelial cell-secreted IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF on the phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK in HNSCC cells. (A) Western Blot for phosphorylated and total STAT3, Akt, and ERK in OSCC3 serum-starved overnight and exposed to EBM; HDMEC conditioned medium (CM) containing 0-2 µg/ml anti-IL-6, anti-EGF, anti-CXCL8 neutralizing antibodies; or IgG control for 30 minutes. (B) ELISA for IL-6, CXCL8, or EGF expression in HDMEC transfected with shRNA-control (shRNA-C), shRNA-IL-6, shRNA-CXCL8, or shRNA-EGF. Asterisk depicts significant difference (p<0.001), as compared to shRNA-C. (C) Western Blot for phosphorylated and total STAT3, Akt, and ERK in OSCC3 serum-starved overnight and exposed to EBM, or to CM from HDMEC-shRNA-C, HDMEC-shRNA-IL-6, HDMEC-shRNA-CXCL8, or HDMEC-shRNA-EGF for 30 minutes.



Figure 2.5. Bcl-2 induces IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF expression in endothelial cells. (A) Pools of endothelial cells overexpressing Bcl-2 (HDMEC-Bcl-2) were generated using retroviral vectors. Transgene expression was examined by Western Blot from HDMEC-LXSN (empty vector control) and HDMEC-Bcl-2. (B) ELISA for IL-6, CXCL8, or EGF expression in HDMEC-LXSN or HDMEC-Bcl-2. Asterisk depicts significant difference (p<0.001), as compared to control HDMEC-LXSN. (C) OSCC3 were serum-starved overnight and exposed to EBM, conditioned medium (CM) from HDMEC-LXSN, or from HDMEC-Bcl-2 at indicated time points. Western Blots were used to determine phosphorylated and total STAT3, Akt, and ERK in OSCC3.



Figure 2.6. Endothelial cell-secreted IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF enhance tumor cell survival and migration via STAT3, Akt, and ERK pathways. (A) To optimize the dose of STAT3, Akt, and ERK inhibitors, OSCC3 were serum-starved overnight, preincubated for 1-2 hours with (a) 0-20 μ M Stattic, (b) 0-100 μ M LY294002, or (c) 0-100 μM U0126, and exposed to EBM or HDMEC conditioned medium (CM) for 30 minutes. Inhibition of STAT3, Akt, and ERK phosphorylation was determined by Western Blot. (B) To evaluate tumor cell survival, OSCC3 were maintained in low attachment plates (LAP) for 24 hours in EBM, (a) CM HDMEC containing 1 µg/ml anti-IL-6, anti-CXCL8, anti-EGF neutralizing antibodies, or IgG control; (b) CM from HDMEC-shRNA-IL-6, HDMEC-shRNA-CXCL8, HDMEC-shRNA-EGF, or HDMEC-shRNA-C; or (c) CM HDMEC containing 5 µM Stattic, 10 µM LY294002, 10 µM U0126, or DMSO vehicle control. OSCC3 cultured in regular plates (NP) with EBM were used as controls. (C) To evaluate tumor cell migration, OSCC3 were serum-starved overnight and allowed to migrate for 24 hours towards EBM, (a) HDMEC CM containing 1 µg/ml anti-IL-6, anti-CXCL8, anti-EGF, or IgG control; (b) CM from HDMEC-shRNA-IL-6, HDMECshRNA-CXCL8, HDMEC-shRNA-EGF, or HDMEC-shRNA-C; or (c) HDMEC CM containing 5 µM Stattic, 10 µM LY294002, 10 µM U0126, or DMSO vehicle control. Data presented here were normalized by control groups. Asterisk depicts significant difference (p<0.001), as compared to controls.



Figure 2.7. Endothelial cell-secreted IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF do not affect tumor cell proliferation. OSCC3 were exposed for 24 (a), 48 (b), or 72 (c) hours to EBM, (A) HDMEC conditioned medium (CM) containing 1 μ g/ml anti-IL-6, anti-CXCL8, anti-EGF neutralizing antibodies, or IgG control; (B) CM from HDMEC-shRNA-IL-6, HDMEC-shRNA-CXCL8, HDMEC-shRNA-EGF, or HDMEC-shRNA-C; or (C) HDMEC CM containing 5 μ M Stattic, 10 μ M LY294002, 10 μ M U0126, or DMSO vehicle control. Notably, direct inhibition of STAT3, Akt or ERK with chemical inhibitors slowed down tumor cell proliferation, as determined by SRB assays. Asterisk depicts significant difference (p<0.05), as compared to controls.



Figure 2.8. Endothelial cell-secreted IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF enhance tumor cell survival via STAT3, Akt, and ERK pathways. To evaluate tumor cell survival, OSCC3 were maintained in low attachment plates (LAP) for 24 hours (a) or 48 hours (b) in EBM, (A) CM HDMEC containing 1 μ g/ml anti-IL-6, anti-CXCL8, anti-EGF neutralizing antibodies, or IgG control; (B) CM from HDMEC-shRNA-IL-6, HDMEC-shRNA-CXCL8, HDMEC-shRNA-EGF, or HDMEC-shRNA-C; or (C), CM HDMEC containing 5 μ M Stattic, 10 μ M LY294002, 10 μ M U0126, or DMSO vehicle control. OSCC3 cultured in regular plates (NP) with EBM were used as controls. Percentage of dead cells was determined by the trypan blue exclusion method. Asterisk depicts significant difference (p<0.001), as compared to controls.

References

Balkwill F (2004). Cancer and the chemokine network. Nat Rev Cancer 4(7):540-50.

Bhowmick NA, Moses HL (2005). Tumor-stroma interactions. *Curr Opin Genet Dev* 15(1):97-101.

Buettner R, Mora LB, Jove R (2002). Activated STAT signaling in human tumors provides novel molecular targets for therapeutic intervention. *Clin Cancer Res* 8(4):945-54.

Burger M, Hartmann T, Burger JA, Schraufstatter I (2005). KSHV-GPCR and CXCR2 transforming capacity and angiogenic responses are mediated through a JAK2-STAT3-dependent pathway. *Oncogene* 24(12):2067-75.

Chang F, Lee JT, Navolanic PM, Steelman LS, Shelton JG, Blalock WL, et al. (2003). Involvement of PI3K/Akt pathway in cell cycle progression, apoptosis, and neoplastic transformation: a target for cancer chemotherapy. *Leukemia* 17(3):590-603.

Chin D, Boyle GM, Porceddu S, Theile DR, Parsons PG, Coman WB (2006). Head and neck cancer: past, present and future. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther* 6(7):1111-8.

Coussens LM, Werb Z (2002). Inflammation and cancer. Nature 420(6917):860-7.

Duffy SA, Taylor JM, Terrell JE, Islam M, Li Y, Fowler KE, et al. (2008). Interleukin-6 predicts recurrence and survival among head and neck cancer patients. *Cancer* 113(4):750-7.

Eisma RJ, Spiro JD, Kreutzer DL (1997). Vascular endothelial growth factor expression in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Am J Surg* 174(5):513-7.

Fenic I, Steger K, Gruber C, Arens C, Woenckhaus J (2007). Analysis of PIK3CA and Akt/protein kinase B in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncol Rep* 18(1):253-9.

Folkman J (2002). Role of angiogenesis in tumor growth and metastasis. *Semin Oncol* 29(6 Suppl 16):15-8.

Forastiere A, Koch W, Trotti A, Sidransky D (2001). Head and neck cancer. *N Engl J Med* 345(26):1890-900.

Friday BB, Adjei AA (2008). Advances in targeting the Ras/Raf/MEK/Erk mitogenactivated protein kinase cascade with MEK inhibitors for cancer therapy. *Clin Cancer Res* 14(2):342-6. Fuhler GM, Knol GJ, Drayer AL, Vellenga E (2005). Impaired interleukin-8- and GROalpha-induced phosphorylation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase result in decreased migration of neutrophils from patients with myelodysplasia. *J Leukoc Biol* 77(2):257-66.

Grandis JR, Tweardy DJ (1993). Elevated levels of transforming growth factor alpha and epidermal growth factor receptor messenger RNA are early markers of carcinogenesis in head and neck cancer. *Cancer Res* 53(15):3579-84.

Grandis JR, Drenning SD, Chakraborty A, Zhou MY, Zeng Q, Pitt AS, et al. (1998). Requirement of Stat3 but not Stat1 activation for epidermal growth factor receptormediated cell growth In vitro. *J Clin Invest* 102(7):1385-92.

Ha PK, Califano JA (2003). The molecular biology of mucosal field cancerization of the head and neck. *Crit Rev Oral Biol Med* 14(5):363-9.

Halin S, Rudolfsson SH, Van Rooijen N, Bergh A (2009). Extratumoral macrophages promote tumor and vascular growth in an orthotopic rat prostate tumor model. *Neoplasia* 11(2):177-86.

Heimdal JH, Kross K, Klementsen B, Olofsson J, Aarstad HJ (2008). Stimulated monocyte IL-6 secretion predicts survival of patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *BMC Cancer* 8(34.

Hirano T, Ishihara K, Hibi M (2000). Roles of STAT3 in mediating the cell growth, differentiation and survival signals relayed through the IL-6 family of cytokine receptors. *Oncogene* 19(21):2548-56.

Hodge DR, Hurt EM, Farrar WL (2005). The role of IL-6 and STAT3 in inflammation and cancer. *Eur J Cancer* 41(16):2502-12.

Huang S (2007). Regulation of metastases by signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 signaling pathway: clinical implications. *Clin Cancer Res* 13(5):1362-6.

Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E, Hao Y, Xu J, Murray T, et al. (2008). Cancer statistics, 2008. *CA Cancer J Clin* 58(2):71-96.

Kamimura D, Ishihara K, Hirano T (2003). IL-6 signal transduction and its physiological roles: the signal orchestration model. *Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol* 149(1-38.

Kaneko T, Zhang Z, Mantellini MG, Karl E, Zeitlin B, Verhaegen M, et al. (2007). Bcl-2 orchestrates a cross-talk between endothelial and tumor cells that promotes tumor growth. *Cancer Res* 67(20):9685-93.

Karin M, Cao Y, Greten FR, Li ZW (2002). NF-kappaB in cancer: from innocent bystander to major culprit. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2(4):301-10.

Karl E, Warner K, Zeitlin B, Kaneko T, Wurtzel L, Jin T, et al. (2005). Bcl-2 acts in a proangiogenic signaling pathway through nuclear factor-kappaB and CXC chemokines. *Cancer Res* 65(12):5063-9.

Kijima T, Niwa H, Steinman RA, Drenning SD, Gooding WE, Wentzel AL, et al. (2002). STAT3 activation abrogates growth factor dependence and contributes to head and neck squamous cell carcinoma tumor growth in vivo. *Cell Growth Differ* 13(8):355-62.

Koch AE, Polverini PJ, Kunkel SL, Harlow LA, DiPietro LA, Elner VM, et al. (1992). Interleukin-8 as a macrophage-derived mediator of angiogenesis. *Science* 258(5089):1798-801.

Leeman RJ, Lui VW, Grandis JR (2006). STAT3 as a therapeutic target in head and neck cancer. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* 6(3):231-41.

Luo J, Manning BD, Cantley LC (2003). Targeting the PI3K-Akt pathway in human cancer: rationale and promise. *Cancer Cell* 4(4):257-62.

Mao L, Hong WK, Papadimitrakopoulou VA (2004). Focus on head and neck cancer. *Cancer Cell* 5(4):311-6.

Masuda M, Ruan HY, Ito A, Nakashima T, Toh S, Wakasaki T, et al. (2007). Signal transducers and activators of transcription 3 up-regulates vascular endothelial growth factor production and tumor angiogenesis in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Oral Oncol* 43(8):785-90.

Mishima K, Inoue K, Hayashi Y (2002). Overexpression of extracellular-signal regulated kinases on oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Oral Oncol* 38(5):468-74.

Nikitakis NG, Siavash H, Sauk JJ (2004). Targeting the STAT pathway in head and neck cancer: recent advances and future prospects. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets* 4(8):637-51.

Nor JE, Christensen J, Mooney DJ, Polverini PJ (1999). Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-mediated angiogenesis is associated with enhanced endothelial cell survival and induction of Bcl-2 expression. *Am J Pathol* 154(2):375-84.

Nor JE, Christensen J, Liu J, Peters M, Mooney DJ, Strieter RM, et al. (2001). Up-Regulation of Bcl-2 in microvascular endothelial cells enhances intratumoral angiogenesis and accelerates tumor growth. *Cancer Res* 61(5):2183-8.

Nor JE, Hu Y, Song W, Spencer DM, Nunez G (2002). Ablation of microvessels in vivo upon dimerization of iCaspase-9. *Gene Ther* 9(7):444-51.

Opel D, Poremba C, Simon T, Debatin KM, Fulda S (2007). Activation of Akt predicts poor outcome in neuroblastoma. *Cancer Res* 67(2):735-45.

Roberts PJ, Der CJ (2007). Targeting the Raf-MEK-ERK mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade for the treatment of cancer. *Oncogene* 26(22):3291-310.

Shojaei F, Ferrara N (2008). Role of the microenvironment in tumor growth and in refractoriness/resistance to anti-angiogenic therapies. *Drug Resist Updat* 11(6):219-30.

Song JI, Grandis JR (2000). STAT signaling in head and neck cancer. *Oncogene* 19(21):2489-95.

Squarize CH, Castilho RM, Sriuranpong V, Pinto DS, Jr., Gutkind JS (2006). Molecular cross-talk between the NFkappaB and STAT3 signaling pathways in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Neoplasia* 8(9):733-46.

Sriuranpong V, Park JI, Amornphimoltham P, Patel V, Nelkin BD, Gutkind JS (2003). Epidermal growth factor receptor-independent constitutive activation of STAT3 in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma is mediated by the autocrine/paracrine stimulation of the interleukin 6/gp130 cytokine system. *Cancer Res* 63(11):2948-56.

Strieter RM, Polverini PJ, Kunkel SL, Arenberg DA, Burdick MD, Kasper J, et al. (1995). The functional role of the ELR motif in CXC chemokine-mediated angiogenesis. *J Biol Chem* 270(45):27348-57.

van der Horst EH, Frank BT, Chinn L, Coxon A, Li S, Polesso F, et al. (2008). The growth factor Midkine antagonizes VEGF signaling in vitro and in vivo. *Neoplasia* 10(4):340-7.

Van Snick J (1990). Interleukin-6: an overview. Annu Rev Immunol 8(253-78.

Vicari AP, Caux C (2002). Chemokines in cancer. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 13(2):143-54.

Vivanco I, Sawyers CL (2002). The phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase AKT pathway in human cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2(7):489-501.

Warner KA, Miyazawa M, Cordeiro MM, Love WJ, Pinsky MS, Neiva KG, et al. (2008). Endothelial cells enhance tumor cell invasion through a crosstalk mediated by CXC chemokine signaling. *Neoplasia* 10(2):131-9.

Zeitlin BD, Joo E, Dong Z, Warner K, Wang G, Nikolovska-Coleska Z, et al. (2006). Antiangiogenic effect of TW37, a small-molecule inhibitor of Bcl-2. *Cancer Res* 66(17):8698-706.

Zeng Q, Chen S, You Z, Yang F, Carey TE, Saims D, et al. (2002). Hepatocyte growth factor inhibits anoikis in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells by activation of ERK and Akt signaling independent of NFkappa B. *J Biol Chem* 277(28):25203-8.

Zeng Q, Li S, Chepeha DB, Giordano TJ, Li J, Zhang H, et al. (2005). Crosstalk between tumor and endothelial cells promotes tumor angiogenesis by MAPK activation of Notch signaling. *Cancer Cell* 8(1):13-23.

Zhu YM, Woll PJ (2005). Mitogenic effects of interleukin-8/CXCL8 on cancer cells. *Future Oncol* 1(5):699-704.

CHAPTER III

ENDOTHELIAL CELL-DERIVED IL-6 MODULATES TUMOR GROWTH

Abstract

Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) is the sixth most common cancer worldwide, with more than 500,000 new cases annually. Despite improvement in treatment strategies, the 50% five-year survival rate has not improved significantly over the past 30 years. The finding of novel molecular therapeutic targets may improve the treatment of HNSCC patients. Targeting endothelial cells rather than cancer cells is an attractive approach for cancer therapy, since the vascular endothelium is directly accessible to systemic drugs and less likely to acquire drug resistance. We have previously shown that endothelial cell-secreted factors activate STAT3, Akt, and ERK signaling pathways HNSCC cells. Here, we demonstrated that HNSCC cells adjacent to blood vessels showed increased phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK in xenograft human tumors. Inhibition of endothelial cell-induced Akt signaling in HNSCC cells increased ERK phosphorylation, and inhibition of ERK pathway increased Akt activation, whereas STAT3 phosphorylation levels were not changed by blockade of endothelial cell-induced Akt or ERK pathways. Among these three pathways, STAT3 presented the higher phosphorylation levels, which is mainly induced by endothelial cellsecreted IL-6. Notably, downregulation of IL-6 in tumor-associated endothelial cells by shRNA inhibited the growth of xenograft human tumors and decreased intratumoral microvessel density. These results suggest that targeted inhibition of IL-6 secreted by tumor associated-endothelial cells might be beneficial for patients with HNSCC.

Introduction

Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) includes malignant lesions arising in the oral cavity, larynx, and pharynx, and represents the sixth most common cancer worldwide, with more than half a million new cases annually (Jemal et al., 2008; Parkin et al., 2005). Despite improvement in treatment strategies involving surgery, radiation therapy, and chemotherapy, the prognosis of HNSCC patients with advanced stage of disease remains largely unsatisfactory as a consequence of loco-regional recurrence (Pignon et al., 2007; Scully and Bagan, 2008). The five-year survival rate after diagnosis of HNSCC is approximately 50%, and has not improved significantly over the past 30 years (Mao et al., 2004; Parkin et al., 2005). HNSCC development and progression involves the accumulation of genetic and epigenetic alterations, and the aberrant expression and/or function of regulators of cell signaling, growth, survival, motility, cell cycle, and angiogenesis (Forastiere et al., 2001; Haddad and Shin, 2008). The deregulation of signaling cascades including the transcription factor signal transducer and activator transcription 3 (STAT3), the phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt, and

the mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK)/extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) pathways are implicated in the pathogenesis of HNSCC (Molinolo et al., 2009).

The recent development of molecular targeted therapies may lead to the rational selection of treatment modalities for HNSCC patients based on specific molecular mechanisms whose deregulated activity contributes to the initiation, development, and metastatic spread (Dietz et al., 2008; Glazer et al., 2009; Langer, 2008; Matta and Ralhan, 2009; Shirai and O'Brien, 2007). Several studies describe the targeted inhibition of signaling pathways, such as STAT3 (Aggarwal et al., 2006; Boehm et al., 2008; Fletcher et al., 2008; Grandis et al., 1998; Leeman et al., 2006), PI3K/Akt (Amornphimoltham et al., 2004; Moral and Paramio, 2008), and MAPK/ERK (Friday and Adjei, 2008; Roberts and Der, 2007) as potential therapeutic approaches for HNSCC. We have recently reported that factors secreted by primary human dermal microvascular endothelial cells (HDMEC) namely IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF activate STAT3, Akt, or ERK pathways in HNSCC (Neiva et al., 2009). We have also shown that inhibition of endothelial cellsecreted IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF decreases STAT3, Akt, and ERK phosphorylation respectively, and reduces tumor cell survival and migration *in vitro* (Neiva et al., 2009). However, we do not know whether downregulation of endothelial cell-secreted factors affects the activity of these signaling pathways in vivo, and whether endothelial cellinitiated signaling contributes to tumor growth.

The search for anticancer therapeutic agents that target tumor cells specifically and selectively with limited toxicity is one of the most important goals of current cancer research (Hajitou et al., 2006). Most chemotherapeutic drugs do not preferentially accumulate at the disease sites. In fact, the dose that reaches the tumor can be as low as 5 to 10% of the dose that accumulates in normal tissues (Bosslet et al., 1998). One approach in the development of more selective anticancer agents consists of targeted delivery of molecules to the tumor microenvironment by binding molecules specifically to tumor-associated markers (Borsi et al., 2002; Buchegger et al., 1983; Demartis et al., 2001; Mach et al., 1983). Tumor progression requires the formation of new blood vessels (Folkman, 1971). Therefore, several angiogenesis inhibitors have been developed to target endothelial cells and block tumor growth (Kerbel and Folkman, 2002). Targeting cells that support tumor growth, rather than cancer cells themselves, is an attractive approach for cancer therapy. The vascular endothelium is directly accessible to drugs injected in the circulation, is composed of genetically stable cells, and is less likely to accumulate mutations and acquire drug resistance (Kerbel and Folkman, 2002; Kolonin et al., 2001; St Croix et al., 2000). Although, recent studies in several experimental models suggested that both tumor and non-tumor (stromal) cells may be involved in the reduced responsiveness to the treatments, due to acquired resistance to antiangiogenic therapy (Shojaei and Ferrara, 2008).

Studies with antiangiogenic agents, including monoclonal antibodies that target vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) such as bevacizumab, and multitargeted receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors such as sorafenib and sunitinib, have shown to improve overall survival in several solid malignancies (Le Tourneau and Siu, 2008). Bevacizumab was the first antiangiogenic drug to be approved by the FDA in 2004 (Hicklin and Ellis, 2005). It is currently used for treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer, non-small lung cancer, and advanced breast cancer (Kerbel, 2008). Sorafenib and sunitinib have also been approved by the FDA, and are used for the treatment of

metastatic renal cell cancer and hepatocellular carcinoma (Kerbel, 2008). The fact that HNSCC express high levels of VEGF and its receptors, and that VEGF expression is highly correlated with prognosis in patients with HNSCC (Shang et al., 2006; (Lothaire et al., 2006), make the study of antiangiogenic therapies especially attractive in the context of this malignancy. Although single-agent antiangiogenic drugs have not shown activity in HNSCC patients, promising results have been obtained with combination therapies involving antiangiogenic drugs in phase II trials (Fujita et al., 2007; Liang et al., 2008).

Despite all the advances in therapies targeting VEGF and other signaling molecules, several challenges still remain. The survival benefits of these treatments are relatively modest (Kerbel, 2008), the treatments are costly (Berenson, 2006; Schrag, 2004), and have significant side effects (Eskens and Verweij, 2006; Verheul and Pinedo, 2007). In addition, single-agent therapy that is effective initially may ultimately lead to drug resistance (Dietz et al., 2008; Le Tourneau and Siu, 2008), making the development of targeted therapies in HNSCC more challenging. The finding of novel molecular targets, and the inclusion of these agents in combined treatment regimes, is likely to increase therapeutic efficacy in HNSCC.

Materials and Methods

Cell culture

Oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC3, gift of M. Lingen, University of Chicago), were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 100 U/ml penicillin,

and 100 µg/ml streptomycin (Invitrogen). Tumor cells were serum-starved overnight before adding treatment. An immortalized human oral keratinocyte cell line (HOK-16B, gift of No-Hee Park, University of California, Los Angeles) was cultured in serum free medium OKM (ScienCell, Carlsbad, CA) containing 1% penicillin/streptomycin, and supplemented with 5 µg/ml BSA, 5 µg/ml transferring, 50 µg/ml bovine pituitary extract, 2.5 µg/ml insulin, 1 ng/ml FGF, 500 ng/ml epinephrine, 1 µg/ml hydrocortisone, 30 nM prostaglandin, and 40 µg/ml plant extract (OKGS, BulletKit, ScienCell). Cells were incubated overnight with OKM medium without supplements before adding treatment. Primary human dermal microvascular endothelial cells (HDMEC; Cambrex, Walkersville, MD) were cultured in endothelial growth medium-2 (EGM2-MV; Cambrex). Conditioned medium (CM) from HDMEC or OSCC3 were prepared in endothelial cell medium (EBM) without supplementation with growth factors or serum from 24-hour cultures.

Stable short hairpin RNA (shRNA) transduction

Lentiviruses expressing a short hairpin RNA (shRNA) construct for silencing IL-6 (Vector Core, University of Michigan) were generated in human embryonic kidney cells (293T) transfected by the calcium phosphate method, as described (Kaneko et al., 2007). A scrambled oligonucleotide sequence (shRNA-C) was used as control. Supernatants were collected 48 hours after transfection and used to infect HDMEC in 1:1 dilution medium containing 4 µg/ml polybrene (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). Cells were selected in EGM2-MV supplemented with 1 µg/ml puromycin (InvivoGen, San Diego,

CA). Downregulation of IL-6 was confirmed by ELISA and by expression of GFP under fluorescence microscopy.

Western blots

 8×10^5 OSCC3 were plated in 60 mm dishes, starved overnight, and exposed to EBM, or conditioned medium (CM) collected from HDMEC or OSCC3 for the indicated time points. HDMEC CM and OSCC3 CM were normalized by total protein concentration. In addition, HOK-16B were exposed to HDMEC CM. Alternatively, tumor cells were exposed to rhIL-6 (BDP, NCI, Frederick, MD) for the indicated time points. Signaling pathways were blocked by pre-incubating tumor cells for 1-2 hours with 20 µM Stattic (STAT3 inhibitor V, Calbiochem, San Diego, CA), 20 µM LY294002 (PI3 kinase inhibitor, Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA), or 20 µM U0126 (MEK1/2 inhibitor, Cell Signaling), as described (Neiva et al., 2009), and exposed to HDMEC CM or rhIL-6 for the indicated time points. Protein (30 µg) was electrophoresed on SDSpolyacrylamide gels and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. Primary antibodies were: mouse anti-human phospho-STAT3, rabbit anti-human STAT3, rabbit anti-human phospho-Akt, rabbit anti-human Akt, rabbit anti-human phospho-ERK1/2, mouse anti-ERK1/2 (Cell Signaling); and mouse anti-glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate human dehydrogenase (GAPDH; Chemicon, Millipore, Billerca, MA). Immunoreactive proteins were visualized by SuperSignal West Pico chemiluminescent substrate (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL).

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

Supernatants of 24-hour endothelial or tumor cell cultures were collected and centrifuged to eliminate debris. IL-6 expression was determined using ELISA kits (Quantikine; R & D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Data were normalized by cell number.

Severe Combined Immunodeficient (SCID) Mouse Model of Human Tumor Angiogenesis

Xenograft human tumors vascularized with human blood vessels were generated under an UCUCA approved protocol, as described (Nor et al., 2001a; Nor et al., 2001b). Briefly, highly porous poly-L(lactic) acid (Boehringer Ingelheim, Ingelheim, Germany) scaffolds were seeded with 9 x 10⁵ HDMEC and 1 x 10⁵ OSCC3 in a 1:1 mixture of growth factor reduced Matrigel and EGM2-MV. Alternatively, tumors were generated using a line of human Kaposi's sarcoma cells (SLK, gift of G. Nuñez, University of Michigan). In addition, scaffolds were seeded with 9 x 10^5 HDMEC-shRNA-control or HDMEC-shRNA-IL-6 and 1 x 10⁵ OSCC3. SCID mice (5-7-week-old male CB.17.SCID; Charles River Laboratories International, Inc., Wilmington, MA) were anesthetized with ketamine and xylazine, and 2 scaffolds were implanted in the subcutaneous space of the dorsal region of each mouse. Tumors were measured with a caliper every 2 days, starting at 14 days after implantation. Mice were euthanized after 28 days, implants were retrieved, photographed, measured, weighed on an electronic balance, fixed overnight in 10% buffered formalin at 4^oC, and embedded in paraffin following standard histological procedures.

Immunohistochemistry of tissue sections

Immunohistochemistry was performed in paraffin-embedded serial sections using phospho-STAT3 (Santa Cruz), STAT3, phospho-Akt, Akt, phospho-ERK, ERK (Cell Signaling), and Ki-67 (Biocare Medical, Concord, CA) antibodies, as described (Squarize et al., 2006).

Tumor microvessel density

Tumor microvessel density was determined following identification of blood vessels by immunohistochemistry with a polyclonal anti-human factor VIII antibody (Lab Vision, Fremont, CA), as previously described (Nor et al., 2001b). The number of stained microvessels was counted in 10 random fields per implant in a light microscope at 100X. Twelve implants were analyzed per condition.

Statistical analyses

T-tests or one-way analysis of variance was performed using the SigmaStat 2.0 software (SPSS; Chicago, IL). Statistical significance was determined at p<0.05.

Results

Endothelial cell-secreted factors, but not tumor cell-secreted factors, induce phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK signaling pathways in oral squamous cell carcinoma cells We have previously demonstrated that a crosstalk initiated by endothelial cells enhances tumor cell survival and migration *in vitro* via STAT3, Akt, and ERK signaling (Neiva et al., 2009). The overall hypothesis underlying this study is that the activation of signaling pathways in tumor cells induced by endothelial cell-secreted factors enhances tumor growth. To begin to address this hypothesis, we compared the effect of endothelial cell-secreted factors (paracrine pathway) with tumor cell-secreted factors (autocrine pathway) on the phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK in HNSCC cells. We exposed OSCC3 to serum-free endothelial cell (HDMEC) conditioned medium (CM) or tumor cell (OSCC3) CM and analyzed phosphorylation events over time (Figure 3.1A). We observed that phosphorylation levels of STAT3, Akt, and ERK were higher in tumor cells exposed to endothelial cell CM than in tumor cells exposed to OSCC3 CM, or unconditioned medium (EBM). The induction of phosphorylation was observed primarily at early time points (15 to 30 minutes), decreasing at 1 hour (Figure 3.1A).

Endothelial cell-secreted factors activate STAT3, Akt, and ERK in oral squamous cell carcinoma cells and in oral keratinocytes

Trying to understand whether the effect of endothelial cell-secreted factors was specific to tumor cells (OSCC3), we also exposed human oral keratinocytes (HOK-16B) to endothelial cell CM and analyzed phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK over time (Figure 3.1B). We observed that endothelial cell-secreted factors had a similar effect on STAT3 and ERK phosphorylation in keratinocytes, compared to tumor cells (higher phosphorylation levels at 15 to 30 minutes, and decreasing at 1 to 24 hours). STAT3 phosphorylation levels were very similar in both cell lines, whereas phosphorylation of

ERK was stronger in tumor cells compared with keratinocytes. Phosphorylation of Akt followed a different trend. Similarly to STAT3 and ERK activation, tumor cells phosphorylated Akt only in the presence of endothelial cell CM (15 minutes to 1 hour, decreasing at 24 hours). On the other hand, oral keratinocytes presented comparable Akt phosphorylation levels in the untreated (exposed to EBM unconditioned medium) and treated (exposed to endothelial cell CM) groups (Figure 3.1B).

Oral squamous cell carcinoma cells adjacent to blood vessels show increased phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK *in vivo*.

To evaluate whether the trends of endothelial cell-induced phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK in tumor cells *in vitro* translate into increased phosphorylation levels *in vivo*, we used the SCID mouse model of human tumor angiogenesis in which we engineer human tumors vascularized with human functional blood vessels that anastomize with the mouse vasculature (Nor et al., 2001a; Nor et al., 2001b; Warner et al., 2008). We implanted primary human endothelial cells (HDMEC) together with oral squamous cells carcinoma cells (OSCC3) in the subcutaneous of SCID mice and analyze the tissues by immunohistochemistry. We observed that levels of total STAT3, Akt, and ERK were uniform through the tissues with nuclear and cytoplasmic localization (Figure 3.1C, bottom panels). Interestingly, tumor cells adjacent to blood vessels showed phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK, with nuclear localization (Figure 3.1C, top and middle panels). To validate these results, we coimplanted endothelial cells with a Kaposi's sarcoma cell line (SLK), and observed the same phosphorylation pattern (Figure 3.2).

STAT3 phosphorylation induced by endothelial cell-secreted factors is independent of Akt and ERK phosphorylation in oral squamous cell carcinoma cells

To explore the interdependence of molecular signaling events initiated by endothelial cells on tumor cells, we exposed OSCC3 to HDMEC CM in the presence of chemical inhibitors of STAT3, Akt, or ERK pathways and analyzed the interdependency of the phosphorylation events. To establish a baseline, we exposed OSCC3 to HDMEC CM and analyzed phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK with a detailed time course up to 1 hour (Figure 3.3A). We observed that HDMEC CM induces first ERK phosphorylation (with strong activation as early as 1 minute, persisting until 15 minutes, and decreasing at 30 minutes), followed by STAT3 and Akt (increasing until 15 minutes, and maintaining activation for up to 1 hour) (Figure 3.3A). When we decreased STAT3 phosphorylation using the chemical inhibitor Stattic, we did not observe significant changes in the phosphorylation status of Akt or ERK (Figure 3.3B). However, when we inhibited Akt phosphorylation using the PI3K inhibitor LY294002 we observed an increase in ERK phosphorylation levels (maintaining strong phosphorylation for up to 1 hour), while phosphorylation levels of STAT3 did not change (Figure 3.3C). Similarly, when we inhibited ERK phosphorylation using the MEK1/2 inhibitor U0126 we observed increased Akt phosphorylation (maintaining strong phosphorylation for up to 1 hour), whereas phosphorylation levels of STAT3 remained unchanged (Figure 3.3D).

We then extended our time course experiments for 24 hours, and observed the same relationship between STAT3, Akt, and ERK phosphorylation in tumor cells induced by endothelial cell-secreted factors (Figure 3.4). STAT3, Akt, and ERK phosphorylation

were stronger at early time points (15 to 30 minutes), decreasing over time. Phosphorylation levels of STAT3 decreased at 1 hour and were maintained for up to 24 hours, phosphorylation of Akt decreased at 2 hours and disappeared at 4 to 24 hours, while phosphorylation of ERK decreased significantly at 1 hour and was absent at 3 to 24 hours (Figure 3.4A). Following the same trends as Figure 3.3, inhibition of STAT3 phosphorylation did not affect Akt or ERK phosphorylation levels (Figure 3.4B). On the other hand, inhibition of Akt phosphorylation increased activation of ERK (Figure 3.4C) at 1 to 24 hours (compared with Figure 3.4A). Likewise, inhibition of ERK phosphorylation increased Akt activation (Figure 3.4D), maintaining the phosphorylation state longer (compared with Figure 3.4A). No major effect was observed in STAT3 phosphorylation levels using Akt or ERK inhibitors. These results suggested that endothelial cell-induced Akt and ERK phosphorylation in OSCC3 have a compensatory effect, while the STAT3 pathway is activated independently.

IL-6 activates STAT3, Akt, and ERK signaling pathways in oral squamous cell carcinoma cells

We have previously demonstrated that IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF are involved in the endothelial cell-initiated STAT3, Akt, and ERK signaling in HNSCC cells, respectively. From these three endothelial cell-secreted factors, IL-6 was the cytokine that activated pathways in HNSCC more significantly, particularly STAT3 (Neiva et al., 2009). To understand HNSCC response to IL-6 stimulation, we performed a detailed time course analyzing the phosphorylation events in OSCC3 cells (Figure 3.5). We observed that when tumor cells were exposed to rhIL-6, the phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK

followed similar patterns as when tumor cells were exposed to HDMEC CM (Figures 3.4A and 3.5A). We then exposed tumor cells to IL-6 in the presence of chemical inhibitors of STAT3, Akt, or ERK pathways and analyzed the phosphorylation response (Figures 3.5B-E). IL-6 strongly activated STAT3 pathway in OSCC3, and slightly activated Akt or ERK (Figure 3.5B). Blockade of STAT3 phosphorylation had no major effect on Akt, but increased ERK phosphorylation (Figure 3.5C). Blockade of Akt activation had no effect on STAT3, while increased ERK phosphorylation (Figure 3.5D). Lastly, inhibition of ERK phosphorylation had significant effect on STAT3 or Akt phosphorylation (Figure 3.5E). Collectively, these results demonstrated that the major effect of IL-6 in OSCC3 is the activation of the STAT3 pathway.

STAT3 phosphorylation in xenograft human oral squamous cell carcinomas correlates with tumor cell proliferation and presence of blood vessels

Our mechanistic experiments in which we inhibited endothelial cell- or IL-6induced STAT3, Akt, or ERK pathways in tumor cells, suggested that STAT3 is activated independently of Akt and ERK activation. Furthermore, IL-6 activates mainly STAT3 signaling, while less robust effect on the phosphorylation of Akt and ERK was observed in OSCC3. These results led us to further explore the IL-6/STAT3 signaling *in vivo*. We used the SCID mouse model of human tumor angiogenesis, in which we implanted highly porous biodegradable scaffolds cointaining OSCC3 and endothelial cells, generating xenograft human oral squamous cell carcinomas. After 28 days, tumors were retrieved and tissues were analyzed by immunohistochemistry. Confirming our previous results (Figure 3.1C), we observed that while total STAT3 was present diffuse through the entire tissue (Figure 3.6A) phosphorylated STAT3 had a tendency to concentrate adjacent blood vessels (Figure 3.6B). Interestingly, immunostaining for the cell proliferation marker Ki67 showed the same pattern as phosphorylated STAT3 (Figure 3.6C). These results suggested that phosphorylation of STAT3 in oral squamous cell carcinomas correlates with tumor cell proliferation and proximity to blood vessels.

Downregulation of IL-6 in tumor-associated endothelial cells inhibits tumor growth

We have previously demonstrated that downregulation of IL-6 in endothelial cells decreases tumor cell survival and migration in vitro (Neiva et al., 2009). These results led us to investigate the role of endothelial cell-secreted IL-6 on HNSCC. To investigate whether these *in vitro* trends have a biological effect *in vivo*, we used the SCID mouse model of human tumor angiogenesis and seeded OSCC3 together with endothelial cells secreting low levels of IL-6 (HDMEC-shRNA-IL-6), or endothelial cells secreting high levels of IL-6 (HDMEC-shRNA-control). Initially, we downregulated IL-6 expression in endothelial cells using lentivirus. The effectiveness of the knockdown was verified by ELISA (Figure 3.7A), and under fluorescence microscopy to confirm expression of GFPpositive cells (Figure 3.7B). We then implanted scaffolds seeded with OSCC3 and HDMEC-shRNA-IL-6 or HDMEC-shRNA-control in the subcutaneous of SCID mice, and observed tumor growth overtime. We observed a significant difference in tumor growth between the two groups. Tumors populated with HDMEC-shRNA-control grew faster and reached 2,000 mm³ at 28 days after implantation, whereas tumors populated with endothelial cells secreting low levels of IL-6 presented approximately half of this size (Figure 3.7C). Tumors were macroscopically smaller in the group populated with HDMEC-shRNA-IL-6 compared with the control group (Figure 3.7D, a). Mice were euthanized at 28 days post-implantation, tumors were removed, photographed (Figure 3.7D, b), measured (Figure 3.7E, a), and weighted (Figure 3.7E, b). These results demonstrated that downregulation of IL-6 in tumor-associated endothelial cells is sufficient to inhibit tumor growth.

Downregulation of IL-6 in tumor-associated endothelial cells inhibits tumor cell proliferation and decreases intratumoral microvessel density.

To explore the mechanisms involved in the inhibition of tumor growth mediated by downregulation of IL-6 in endothelial cells, we analyzed by immunohistochemistry tumor cell proliferation and intratumoral microvessel density. We observed that expression of the proliferation marker Ki67 was higher in tumors cells coimplanted with HDMEC-shRNA-control than in tumors cells coimplanted with HDMEC-shRNA-IL-6 (Figure 3.8A). Ki67 expression was quantified by blinded scoring the immunostained tissues (Figure 3.8B). Lastly, we analyzed whether downregulation of IL-6 in tumorassociated endothelial cells affect microvessel density. We observed a significant decrease in microvessel density in tumors populated with OSCC3 and HDMEC-shRNA-IL-6, compared to implants containing OSCC3 and HDMEC-shRNA-control (Figure 3.8C). Number of microvessels was quantified by counting vessels stained for von Willebrand factor (Factor VIII) (Figure 3.8D). Taken together, these results demonstrated that downregulation of IL-6 in tumor-associated endothelial cells reduces tumor cell proliferation and decreases microvessel density, leading to an inhibition of tumor growth.

Discussion

Recently, there has been increasing interest in the development of moleculartargeted agents that specifically modulate growth factors and signaling pathways that are deregulated in tumor cells. A better understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying the development and progression of HNSCC may help to identify novel targets for pharmacological intervention in this devastating disease (Nagpal and Das, 2003; Squarize et al., 2006).

We have previously shown that factors secreted by endothelial cells, namely IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF, activate STAT3, Akt, or ERK signaling pathways in HNSCC, increasing tumor cell survival and migration *in vitro* (Neiva et al., 2009). In this study, we explore the biological consequences of these endothelial cell-initiated signaling events in vivo. In our previous report, we demonstrated that conditioned medium collected from endothelial cells stimulate phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK in HNSCC. However, we did not know whether activation of these pathways was specific to endothelial cell-secreted factors. Several studies describe an autocrine effect of tumor cell-secreted factors on cancer progression (Gao et al., 2007; Kulbe et al., 2004; Lee et al., 2007a; Molinolo et al., 2009; Pries and Wollenberg, 2006; Sansone et al., 2007). Here, we demonstrated that tumor cells exposed to endothelial cell conditioned medium had higher levels of STAT3, Akt, and ERK phosphorylation that tumor cells exposed to conditioned medium collected from tumor cells. We recognize that tumor cells secrete a panel of growth factors and cytokines that stimulate a network signaling molecules. However, endothelial cells activated STAT3, Akt, and ERK in a significantly greater extend than tumor cell-secreted factors in an autocrine manner. These results support our previous findings that endothelial cells secrete significantly higher levels of IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF than HNSCC cells (Neiva et al., 2009). We also explored whether these endothelial cell-initiated phosphorylation events were specific to advanced stage carcinoma cell lines. To address this question, we exposed a human oral keratinocyte cell line to endothelial cell conditioned medium and analyzed phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt and ERK. We observed that endothelial cells were also able to activate STAT3 and ERK pathways in keratinocytes, suggesting that factors secreted by endothelial cells may also play a role in the early events of HNSCC tumorigenesis. The fact that keratinocytes responded similarly to tumor cells, and more importantly, that Akt was phosphorylated even in untreated cells might be explained by the model of molecular cancer progression of HNSCC (Califano et al., 1996b). This model postulated that tissues with normal or benign appearance might already contain clonal genetic changes (Forastiere et al., 2001). In addition, several studies suggest that early genetic changes do not necessarily correlate with observable changes in morphology (Rosin et al., 2000).

To move our study forward, it was important for us to verify whether these *in vitro* findings would have a correlation with *in vivo* levels of STAT3, Akt, and ERK phosphorylation in tumor cells associated with the presence of endothelial cells. Using the SCID mouse model of human tumor angiogenesis (Nor et al., 2001a; Nor et al., 2001b; Warner et al., 2008), we co-implanted primary human endothelial cells with human oral squamous cells carcinoma cells and analyzed phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK in the tumor tissues by immunohistochemistry. Notably, the levels of total STAT3, Akt, and ERK were uniformly distributed through the tumor mass, while tumor
cells expressing phosphorylated STAT3, Akt, and ERK were localized adjacent to blood vessels. We validated these results using a tumor cells line from mesenquimal origin (Kaposi's sarcoma), showing that the effect of endothelial cells on tumor cell phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK was independent of tumor type.

Several studies have shown that deregulation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK is implicated in tumorigenesis (Chang et al., 2003; Friday and Adjei, 2008; Grandis et al., 1998; Leeman et al., 2006; Luo et al., 2003; Roberts and Der, 2007; Song and Grandis, 2000; Squarize et al., 2006; Vivanco and Sawyers, 2002; Zeng et al., 2002), suggesting that aberrant activity of a network of interrelated signaling pathways rather than a single deregulated route contributes to carcinogenesis (Molinolo et al., 2009). We have shown that endothelial cell-secreted factors activate STAT3, Akt, and ERK signaling in HNSCC (Neiva et al., 2009), however the crosstalk between these three pathways initiated by endothelial cells had not been explored. Trying to understand the relationship between these endothelial cell-initiated signaling events on tumor cells, we exposed OSCC3 to endothelial cell conditioned medium in the presence of chemical inhibitors of STAT3, Akt, and ERK pathways and analyzed the phosphorylation response. When we inhibited STAT3 phosphorylation, we observed no major changes in the activation of Akt or ERK. However, when we inhibited Akt phosphorylation, we observed an increase in ERK phosphorylation and vice-versa, whereas inhibition of Akt or ERK did not affect STAT3 phosphorylation levels. These results suggested that endothelial cell-induced Akt and ERK signaling have a compensatory effect, while STAT3 pathway is activated independently. These results are in accordance with accumulating evidence that Akt and ERK pathways may cooperate to promote the survival of transformed cells, and are

alternatively and/or coordinately expressed in several cancers, raising the possibility that a feedback loop might exist in this network (Carracedo et al., 2008; Gao et al., 2006; Grant, 2008; Kinkade et al., 2008; McCubrey et al., 2007; Uzgare and Isaacs, 2004). Our results showed that IL-6 secreted by endothelial cells strongly activated STAT3 in OSCC3. Several other studies have also demonstrated that IL-6 induces STAT3 in other cell types and diseases (Atreya and Neurath, 2008; Hirano et al., 2000; Hodge et al., 2005; Van Snick, 1990).

Next, we explored the role of endothelial cell-secreted IL-6 on tumor growth, using the SCID mouse model or human tumor angiogenesis. We observed a significant difference in tumor growth over time, tumor volume, and tumor weight when tumorassociated endothelial cells expressed low levels of IL-6. Early studies have shown that upregulation of Bcl-2 in microvascular endothelial cells accelerates tumor growth (Kaneko et al., 2007; Nor et al., 2001a). We have previously demonstrated that endothelial cells overexpressing Bcl-2 secrete higher levels of IL-6 than empty vector control cells (Neiva et al., 2009). These two findings support the results we presented here. We then explored the mechanisms involved in the inhibition of tumor growth by immunohistochemistry. Consistently with our previous results, tumor cells expressing phosphorylated STAT3 were located primarily adjacent to blood vessels and correlated with expression of the proliferation marker Ki67. Notably, expression of Ki67 was higher in tumors populated with OSCC3 and HDMEC-shRNA-control than in tumors populated with endothelial cells secreting low levels of IL-6. Lastly, we observed a significant decrease in microvessel density in tumors populated with OSCC3 and HDMEC-shRNA-IL-6, compared to controls. Collectively, these results demonstrated that downregulation

of IL-6 in tumor-associated endothelial cells reduces tumor cell proliferation and decreases microvessel density, leading to an inhibition of tumor growth. Our results are in accordance with several reports describing that STAT3 plays a crucial role in tumor cell proliferation and angiogenesis, and that IL-6 is the major activator of STAT3 pathway (Aggarwal et al., 2006; Hodge et al., 2005; Leeman et al., 2006).

In this study, we demonstrated that specific inhibition of endothelial cell-secreted IL-6 inhibits tumor growth. Targeting the vascular endothelium rather than the cancer cells has been an attractive therapeutic approach for the treatment of several malignancies (Kerbel and Folkman, 2002). Notably, endothelial cells are directly accessible to systemic drugs, are composed of genetically stable cells, and are less likely to accumulate mutations and acquire drug resistance (Kerbel and Folkman, 2002; Kolonin et al., 2001; St Croix et al., 2000). In addition, our results suggest that therapeutic blockade of signaling events initiated by endothelial cells might be beneficial for cancer patients even if this therapy does not result in the death of these endothelial cells.



Figure 3.1. Endothelial cell-derived factors phosphorylate STAT3, Akt, and ERK in tumor cells *in vitro* **and** *in vivo*. (A) Western blot for phosphorylated and total STAT3, Akt, and ERK in OSCC3 serum-starved overnight and exposed to HDMEC conditioned medium (CM), OSCC3 CM, or control unconditioned medium (EBM) for the indicated time points. (B) Western blot for phosphorylated and total STAT3, Akt, and ERK in OSCC3 or HOK-16B serum-starved overnight and exposed to HDMEC CM or EBM for the indicated time points. (C) Immunohistochemical analysis for STAT3, Akt, and ERK in representative specimens from xenograft human squamous cell carcinomas. Top panels represent photomicrographs of phosphorylated STAT3, Akt, and ERK, with nuclear localization (100X). Middle panels represent total STAT3, Akt, and ERK (100X) with nuclear and cytoplasmic localization.



Figure 3.2. Tumor cells adjacent to blood vessels show increased phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK. (A) Immunohistochemical analysis for phosphorylated STAT3, Akt, and ERK in representative specimens from xenografted human Kaposi's sarcomas. Top panels represent 100X and bottom panels represent 200X. (B) Immunostaining for von Willebrand factor (Factor VIII) showing blood vessels (200X), and IgG control (100X).



Figure 3.3. Blockade of endothelial cell-induced STAT3 phosphorylation in tumor cells does not affect Akt and ERK pathways, whereas inhibition of Akt or ERK have a compensatory mechanism and do not affect STAT3. OSCC3 were serum-starved overnight and exposed to (A) HDMEC conditioned medium (CM) or unconditioned medium (EBM) for the indicated time points. In addition, OSCC3 were pre-incubated for 1 to 2 hours with (B) 20 μ M Stattic, (C) 20 μ M LY294002, or (D) 20 μ M U0126, and then exposed to HDMEC CM or EBM for the indicated time points. Phosphorylated and total STAT3, Akt, and ERK were determined by Western blot.



Figure 3.4. STAT3 phosphorylation induced by endothelial cell-secreted factors is independent of Akt and ERK phosphorylation. OSCC3 were serum-starved overnight and exposed to (A) HDMEC conditioned medium (CM) or unconditioned medium (EBM) for the indicated time points. In addition, OSCC3 were pre-incubated for 1 to 2 hours with (B) 20 μ M Stattic, (C) 20 μ M LY294002, or (D) 20 μ M U0126, and then exposed to HDMEC CM or EBM for the indicated time points. Phosphorylated and total levels of STAT3, Akt, and ERK were determined by Western blot.



Figure 3.5. IL-6 potently activates STAT3 signaling in oral squamous cell carcinoma cells. (A-E) OSCC3 were serum-starved overnight and exposed to 20 ng/ml rhIL-6 for the indicated time points. Phosphorylated and total levels of STAT3, Akt, and ERK were determined by Western blots. (A) Extensive and detailed time course in OSCC3 exposed to rhIL-6. (B) Short time course in OSCC3 exposed to rhIL-6. In addition, OSCC3 were pre-incubated for 1 to 2 hours with (C) 20 μ M Stattic, (D) 20 μ M LY294002, or (E) 20 μ M U0126, and then exposed to rhIL-6 for the indicated time points.



Figure 3.6. STAT3 phosphorylation in xenograft human oral squamous cell carcinomas correlates with tumor cell proliferation and presence of blood vessels. Xenograft human tumors were generated in SCID mice by coimplanting OSCC3 and HDMEC. Tumors were retrieved after 28 days, and tissues were analyzed by immunohistochemistry. Immunohistochemical analysis for (A) total STAT3 with nuclear and cytoplasmic localization, diffused through the tissue. (B) phosphorylated STAT3 with nuclear localization, concentrated in the proximity of blood vessels. (C) Ki67 with nuclear localization, concentrated adjacent to blood vessels. Top panels represent 100X and bottom panels represent 200X.



Figure 3.7. Downregulation of IL-6 in tumor-associated endothelial cells inhibits tumor growth. (A) ELISA for IL-6 expression in HDMEC transfected with shRNA-IL-6 or with a control scrambled oligonucleotide sequence (shRNA-C). (B) Fluorescence microscopy showing GFP expression in transfected-positive cells. (C) Tumor progression over time. (D) Macroscopic view of representative SCID mice bearing tumors (a), and the same tumors after retrieval (b). (E) Graphs depicting tumor volume (a) and tumor weight (b) after retrieval (28 days post-implantation). Asterisk depicts significant difference (p<0.05).



Figure 3.8. Downregulation of IL-6 in tumor-associated endothelial cells reduces tumor cell proliferation and decreases intratumoral microvessel density. (A) Immunohistochemical analysis for Ki67, indicating tumor cell proliferation in implants containing OSCC3 and HDMEC-shRNA-C, or OSCC3 and HDMEC-shRNA-IL-6 (top panels represent 100X and bottom panels represent 200X). (B) Quantification of tumor cell proliferation determined by scoring Ki67 immunostaining. Data represent mean values obtained in random microscopic fields (100X) from 12 tumors per condition. Asterisk depicts significant difference (p<0.05). (C) Immunohistochemistry for von Willebrand factor (Factor VIII) showing blood vessels (100X). Left panel shows a representative tumor populated with OSCC3 and HDMEC-shRNA-C, and right panel shows a tumor containing OSCC3 and HDMEC-shRNA-IL-6. (D) Quantification of microvessel density. Data represent mean values obtained in 10 random microscopic fields per implant (100X) from 12 tumors per condition. Asterisk depicts significant difference mean values obtained in 10 random microscopic fields per implant (100X) from 12 tumors per condition.

References

Aggarwal BB, Sethi G, Ahn KS, Sandur SK, Pandey MK, Kunnumakkara AB, et al. (2006). Targeting signal-transducer-and-activator-of-transcription-3 for prevention and therapy of cancer: modern target but ancient solution. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1091(151-69.

Amornphimoltham P, Sriuranpong V, Patel V, Benavides F, Conti CJ, Sauk J, et al. (2004). Persistent activation of the Akt pathway in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: a potential target for UCN-01. *Clin Cancer Res* 10(12 Pt 1):4029-37.

Atreya R, Neurath MF (2008). Signaling molecules: the pathogenic role of the IL-6/STAT-3 trans signaling pathway in intestinal inflammation and in colonic cancer. *Curr Drug Targets* 9(5):369-74.

Berenson A (2006). A cancer drug shows promise, at a price that many can't pay. NY Times (Print):A1, C2.

Boehm AL, Sen M, Seethala R, Gooding WE, Freilino M, Wong SM, et al. (2008). Combined targeting of epidermal growth factor receptor, signal transducer and activator of transcription-3, and Bcl-X(L) enhances antitumor effects in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. *Mol Pharmacol* 73(6):1632-42.

Borsi L, Balza E, Bestagno M, Castellani P, Carnemolla B, Biro A, et al. (2002). Selective targeting of tumoral vasculature: comparison of different formats of an antibody (L19) to the ED-B domain of fibronectin. *Int J Cancer* 102(1):75-85.

Bosslet K, Straub R, Blumrich M, Czech J, Gerken M, Sperker B, et al. (1998). Elucidation of the mechanism enabling tumor selective prodrug monotherapy. *Cancer Res* 58(6):1195-201.

Buchegger F, Haskell CM, Schreyer M, Scazziga BR, Randin S, Carrel S, et al. (1983). Radiolabeled fragments of monoclonal antibodies against carcinoembryonic antigen for localization of human colon carcinoma grafted into nude mice. *J Exp Med* 158(2):413-27.

Califano J, van der Riet P, Westra W, Nawroz H, Clayman G, Piantadosi S, et al. (1996). Genetic progression model for head and neck cancer: implications for field cancerization. *Cancer Res* 56(11):2488-92.

Carracedo A, Ma L, Teruya-Feldstein J, Rojo F, Salmena L, Alimonti A, et al. (2008). Inhibition of mTORC1 leads to MAPK pathway activation through a PI3K-dependent feedback loop in human cancer. *J Clin Invest* 118(9):3065-74.

Chang F, Lee JT, Navolanic PM, Steelman LS, Shelton JG, Blalock WL, et al. (2003). Involvement of PI3K/Akt pathway in cell cycle progression, apoptosis, and neoplastic transformation: a target for cancer chemotherapy. *Leukemia* 17(3):590-603.

Demartis S, Tarli L, Borsi L, Zardi L, Neri D (2001). Selective targeting of tumour neovasculature by a radiohalogenated human antibody fragment specific for the ED-B domain of fibronectin. *Eur J Nucl Med* 28(4):534-9.

Dietz A, Boehm A, Mozet C, Wichmann G, Giannis A (2008). Current aspects of targeted therapy in head and neck tumors. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol* 265 Suppl 1(S3-12.

Eskens FA, Verweij J (2006). The clinical toxicity profile of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR) targeting angiogenesis inhibitors; a review. *Eur J Cancer* 42(18):3127-39.

Fletcher S, Turkson J, Gunning PT (2008). Molecular approaches towards the inhibition of the signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (Stat3) protein. *ChemMedChem* 3(8):1159-68.

Folkman J (1971). Tumor angiogenesis: therapeutic implications. *N Engl J Med* 285(21):1182-6.

Forastiere A, Koch W, Trotti A, Sidransky D (2001). Head and neck cancer. *N Engl J Med* 345(26):1890-900.

Friday BB, Adjei AA (2008). Advances in targeting the Ras/Raf/MEK/Erk mitogenactivated protein kinase cascade with MEK inhibitors for cancer therapy. *Clin Cancer Res* 14(2):342-6.

Fujita K, Sano D, Kimura M, Yamashita Y, Kawakami M, Ishiguro Y, et al. (2007). Antitumor effects of bevacizumab in combination with paclitaxel on head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncol Rep* 18(1):47-51.

Gao H, Ouyang X, Banach-Petrosky WA, Gerald WL, Shen MM, Abate-Shen C (2006). Combinatorial activities of Akt and B-Raf/Erk signaling in a mouse model of androgenindependent prostate cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103(39):14477-82.

Gao SP, Mark KG, Leslie K, Pao W, Motoi N, Gerald WL, et al. (2007). Mutations in the EGFR kinase domain mediate STAT3 activation via IL-6 production in human lung adenocarcinomas. *J Clin Invest* 117(12):3846-56.

Glazer CA, Chang SS, Ha PK, Califano JA (2009). Applying the molecular biology and epigenetics of head and neck cancer in everyday clinical practice. *Oral Oncol* 45(4-5):440-6.

Grandis JR, Drenning SD, Chakraborty A, Zhou MY, Zeng Q, Pitt AS, et al. (1998). Requirement of Stat3 but not Stat1 activation for epidermal growth factor receptormediated cell growth In vitro. *J Clin Invest* 102(7):1385-92.

Grant S (2008). Cotargeting survival signaling pathways in cancer. J Clin Invest 118(9):3003-6.

Haddad RI, Shin DM (2008). Recent advances in head and neck cancer. *N Engl J Med* 359(11):1143-54.

Hajitou A, Pasqualini R, Arap W (2006). Vascular targeting: recent advances and therapeutic perspectives. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* 16(3):80-8.

Hicklin DJ, Ellis LM (2005). Role of the vascular endothelial growth factor pathway in tumor growth and angiogenesis. *J Clin Oncol* 23(5):1011-27.

Hirano T, Ishihara K, Hibi M (2000). Roles of STAT3 in mediating the cell growth, differentiation and survival signals relayed through the IL-6 family of cytokine receptors. *Oncogene* 19(21):2548-56.

Hodge DR, Hurt EM, Farrar WL (2005). The role of IL-6 and STAT3 in inflammation and cancer. *Eur J Cancer* 41(16):2502-12.

Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E, Hao Y, Xu J, Murray T, et al. (2008). Cancer statistics, 2008. *CA Cancer J Clin* 58(2):71-96.

Kaneko T, Zhang Z, Mantellini MG, Karl E, Zeitlin B, Verhaegen M, et al. (2007). Bcl-2 orchestrates a cross-talk between endothelial and tumor cells that promotes tumor growth. *Cancer Res* 67(20):9685-93.

Kerbel R, Folkman J (2002). Clinical translation of angiogenesis inhibitors. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2(10):727-39.

Kerbel RS (2008). Tumor angiogenesis. N Engl J Med 358(19):2039-49.

Kinkade CW, Castillo-Martin M, Puzio-Kuter A, Yan J, Foster TH, Gao H, et al. (2008). Targeting AKT/mTOR and ERK MAPK signaling inhibits hormone-refractory prostate cancer in a preclinical mouse model. *J Clin Invest* 118(9):3051-64.

Kolonin M, Pasqualini R, Arap W (2001). Molecular addresses in blood vessels as targets for therapy. *Curr Opin Chem Biol* 5(3):308-13.

Kulbe H, Levinson NR, Balkwill F, Wilson JL (2004). The chemokine network in cancer-much more than directing cell movement. *Int J Dev Biol* 48(5-6):489-96.

Langer CJ (2008). Targeted therapy in head and neck cancer: state of the art 2007 and review of clinical applications. *Cancer* 112(12):2635-45.

Le Tourneau C, Siu LL (2008). Molecular-targeted therapies in the treatment of squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck. *Curr Opin Oncol* 20(3):256-63.

Lee S, Chen TT, Barber CL, Jordan MC, Murdock J, Desai S, et al. (2007). Autocrine VEGF signaling is required for vascular homeostasis. *Cell* 130(4):691-703.

Leeman RJ, Lui VW, Grandis JR (2006). STAT3 as a therapeutic target in head and neck cancer. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* 6(3):231-41.

Lothaire P, de Azambuja E, Dequanter D, Lalami Y, Sotiriou C, Andry G, et al. (2006). Molecular markers of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: promising signs in need of prospective evaluation. *Head Neck* 28(3):256-69.

Luo J, Manning BD, Cantley LC (2003). Targeting the PI3K-Akt pathway in human cancer: rationale and promise. *Cancer Cell* 4(4):257-62.

Mach JP, Chatal JF, Lumbroso JD, Buchegger F, Forni M, Ritschard J, et al. (1983). Tumor localization in patients by radiolabeled monoclonal antibodies against colon carcinoma. *Cancer Res* 43(11):5593-600.

Mao L, Hong WK, Papadimitrakopoulou VA (2004). Focus on head and neck cancer. *Cancer Cell* 5(4):311-6.

Matta A, Ralhan R (2009). Overview of current and future biologically based targeted therapies in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Head Neck Oncol* 1(1):6.

McCubrey JA, Steelman LS, Franklin RA, Abrams SL, Chappell WH, Wong EW, et al. (2007). Targeting the RAF/MEK/ERK, PI3K/AKT and p53 pathways in hematopoietic drug resistance. *Adv Enzyme Regul* 47(64-103.

Molinolo AA, Amornphimoltham P, Squarize CH, Castilho RM, Patel V, Gutkind JS (2009). Dysregulated molecular networks in head and neck carcinogenesis. *Oral Oncol* 45(4-5):324-34.

Moral M, Paramio JM (2008). Akt pathway as a target for therapeutic intervention in HNSCC. *Histol Histopathol* 23(10):1269-78.

Nagpal JK, Das BR (2003). Oral cancer: reviewing the present understanding of its molecular mechanism and exploring the future directions for its effective management. *Oral Oncol* 39(3):213-21.

Neiva KG, Zhang Z, Miyazawa M, Warner KA, Karl E, Nor JE (2009). Cross talk initiated by endothelial cells enhances migration and inhibits anoikis of squamous cell carcinoma cells through STAT3/Akt/ERK signaling. *Neoplasia* 11(6):583-93.

Nor JE, Christensen J, Liu J, Peters M, Mooney DJ, Strieter RM, et al. (2001a). Up-Regulation of Bcl-2 in microvascular endothelial cells enhances intratumoral angiogenesis and accelerates tumor growth. *Cancer Res* 61(5):2183-8.

Nor JE, Peters MC, Christensen JB, Sutorik MM, Linn S, Khan MK, et al. (2001b). Engineering and characterization of functional human microvessels in immunodeficient mice. *Lab Invest* 81(4):453-63.

Parkin DM, Bray F, Ferlay J, Pisani P (2005). Global cancer statistics, 2002. *CA Cancer J Clin* 55(2):74-108.

Pignon JP, le Maitre A, Bourhis J (2007). Meta-Analyses of Chemotherapy in Head and Neck Cancer (MACH-NC): an update. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 69(2 Suppl):S112-4.

Pries R, Wollenberg B (2006). Cytokines in head and neck cancer. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 17(3):141-6.

Roberts PJ, Der CJ (2007). Targeting the Raf-MEK-ERK mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade for the treatment of cancer. *Oncogene* 26(22):3291-310.

Rosin MP, Cheng X, Poh C, Lam WL, Huang Y, Lovas J, et al. (2000). Use of allelic loss to predict malignant risk for low-grade oral epithelial dysplasia. *Clin Cancer Res* 6(2):357-62.

Sansone P, Storci G, Tavolari S, Guarnieri T, Giovannini C, Taffurelli M, et al. (2007). IL-6 triggers malignant features in mammospheres from human ductal breast carcinoma and normal mammary gland. *J Clin Invest* 117(12):3988-4002.

Schrag D (2004). The price tag on progress--chemotherapy for colorectal cancer. *N Engl J Med* 351(4):317-9.

Scully C, Bagan JV (2008). Recent advances in Oral Oncology 2007: imaging, treatment and treatment outcomes. *Oral Oncol* 44(3):211-5.

Shang ZJ, Li ZB, Li JR (2006). VEGF is up-regulated by hypoxic stimulation and related to tumour angiogenesis and severity of disease in oral squamous cell carcinoma: in vitro and in vivo studies. *Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg* 35(6):533-8.

Shirai K, O'Brien PE (2007). Molecular targets in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. *Curr Treat Options Oncol* 8(3):239-51.

Song JI, Grandis JR (2000). STAT signaling in head and neck cancer. *Oncogene* 19(21):2489-95.

Squarize CH, Castilho RM, Sriuranpong V, Pinto DS, Jr., Gutkind JS (2006). Molecular cross-talk between the NFkappaB and STAT3 signaling pathways in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Neoplasia* 8(9):733-46.

St Croix B, Rago C, Velculescu V, Traverso G, Romans KE, Montgomery E, et al. (2000). Genes expressed in human tumor endothelium. *Science* 289(5482):1197-202.

Uzgare AR, Isaacs JT (2004). Enhanced redundancy in Akt and mitogen-activated protein kinase-induced survival of malignant versus normal prostate epithelial cells. *Cancer Res* 64(17):6190-9.

Van Snick J (1990). Interleukin-6: an overview. Annu Rev Immunol 8(253-78.

Verheul HM, Pinedo HM (2007). Possible molecular mechanisms involved in the toxicity of angiogenesis inhibition. *Nat Rev Cancer* 7(6):475-85.

Vivanco I, Sawyers CL (2002). The phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase AKT pathway in human cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2(7):489-501.

Warner KA, Miyazawa M, Cordeiro MM, Love WJ, Pinsky MS, Neiva KG, et al. (2008). Endothelial cells enhance tumor cell invasion through a crosstalk mediated by CXC chemokine signaling. *Neoplasia* 10(2):131-9.

Zeng Q, Chen S, You Z, Yang F, Carey TE, Saims D, et al. (2002). Hepatocyte growth factor inhibits anoikis in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells by activation of ERK and Akt signaling independent of NFkappa B. *J Biol Chem* 277(28):25203-8.

CHAPTER IV

CONCLUSION

Our understanding of the process involving HNSCC development and progression has increased significantly over the past years. However, despite many advances in prevention and treatment of HNSCC, several challenges still remain. The poor prognosis for patients diagnosed with this devastating disease is in part a consequence of the limited knowledge of the signaling events underlying the malignant progression of HNSCC. Molecular targeted therapy is a promising approach to treat HNSCC and it has been shown to improve overall patient survival (Harari et al., 2009). With that in mind, we attempted to gain insights into the complex molecular events involving HNSCC cells and endothelial cells. The rationale to explore the crosstalk between endothelial cells and cancer cells is based on the knowledge that tumors are angiogenesis-dependent, and that this process of tumor angiogenesis requires active interaction between endothelial and tumor cells. The current paradigm in this field is that tumor cell-initiated signals are the dominant events in tumor angiogenesis and tumor growth, and little is known about the effect of endothelial cell-secreted factors on the phenotype and behavior of tumor cells. Here, we hypothesized that endothelial cells initiate signaling pathways in HNSCC cells that enhance tumor growth. The identification and characterization of the signaling events

initiated by tumor-associated endothelial cells may have important implications in cancer therapy.

In chapter II, we demonstrated that soluble mediators from primary human dermal microvascular endothelial cells activate three key intracellular molecules, namely STAT3, Akt, and ERK in a panel of HNSCC, suggesting that endothelial cells play an active role in the determination of tumor cell phenotype. Notably, we showed that endothelial cell-secreted factors were able to phosphorylate these signaling pathways in tumor cells without cell contact. One of the challenges was to find out which factors were mediating these effects in HNSCC cells. We then demonstrated that IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF were upregulated in endothelial cells co-cultured with HNSCC, and that blockade of endothelial cell-derived IL-6, CXCL8, or EGF inhibited the activation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK in tumor cells, respectively.

Trying to understand the mechanisms involved in this upregulation of IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF in endothelial cells, we explored a potential role for Bcl-2, based on previous reports. Previous studies have shown that tumor cell-secreted VEGF induces Bcl-2 expression in endothelial cells, and that upregulation of Bcl-2 in microvascular endothelial cells is sufficient to enhance tumor progression (Nor et al., 1999; Nor et al., 2001a). Notably, Bcl-2 is significantly upregulated in the endothelial cells of head and neck tumor microvessels in human patients (Kaneko et al., 2007). In addition, Bcl-2 induces CXCL1 and CXCL8 expression in endothelial cells (Karl et al., 2005). We observed that Bcl-2 signaling also induces expression of IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF, providing a mechanism for the upregulation of these cytokines in tumor-associated

endothelial cells. Moreover, Bcl-2 expression in endothelial cells had a significant impact on the phosphorylation status of STAT3 and ERK in HNSCC cells.

At this point, it was critical to us to expand our studies to better understand the biological significance of endothelial cell-induced activation of the STAT3, Akt, and ERK pathways in HNSCC. We demonstrated that endothelial cell-secreted factors significantly protected HNSCC cells from anoikis, and this protective effect was partially inhibited when we downregulated IL-6, CXCL8, or EGF in the endothelial cells. And finally, considering that IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF have been characterized as chemotactic factors, we explored their effect on tumor cell motility. Indeed, we observed that endothelial cells were able to generate a chemotactic gradient that induces tumor cell migration towards the endothelial cells. Based on these results, we speculated that endothelial cells play a key role in field cancerization by providing chemotactic signals that enhance the invasive phenotype of tumor cells, and by activating survival signals that protect the tumor cells against anoikis once these cells are displaced from their original microenvironment.

In chapter III, we explored the crosstalk between the endothelial cell-induced signaling pathways in HNSCC, with an emphasis on IL-6-mediated events. Here, we demonstrated that HNSCC cells exposed to endothelial cell conditioned medium presented higher levels of STAT3, Akt, and ERK phosphorylation than HNSCC cells exposed to conditioned medium collected from tumor cells. Furthermore, we observed that endothelial cell-secreted factors were also able to induce STAT3 and ERK phosphorylation in oral keratinocytes, suggesting that microvascular endothelial cells may also play a role in the early events of HNSCC tumorigenesis.

At this stage, it was important to verify whether these *in vitro* findings would have a correlation with *in vivo* levels of STAT3, Akt, and ERK phosphorylation in tumor cells associated with the presence of endothelial cells. Using the SCID mouse model of human tumor angiogenesis (Nor et al., 2001a; Nor et al., 2001b; Warner et al., 2008), we demonstrated that tumor cells adjacent to blood vessels express high levels of phosphorylates STAT3, Akt, and ERK, whereas total protein was expressed through the entire tissues.

Several studies suggest that aberrant activity of a network of interrelated signaling pathways rather than a single deregulated route contributes to carcinogenesis. Therefore, we explore the crosstalk between STAT3, Akt, and ERK signaling initiated by endothelial cells. Using chemical inhibitors for these pathways, we observed that endothelial cell-induced Akt and ERK signaling have a compensatory effect, while STAT3 pathway is activated independently. These results suggested that Akt and ERK cooperate in the progression of HNSCC, and that a possible feedback loop might exist in this network. On the other hand, STAT3 activation was independent of Akt and ERK phosphorylation status.

Due to the fact that STAT3 was an independent, consistent, and potent pathway activated by endothelial cells in HNSCC, we decided to further explore the effect of endothelial cell-secreted IL-6 *in vivo*. Using the SCID mouse model or human tumor angiogenesis, we observed a significant inhibition of tumor growth over time, tumor volume, and tumor weight when tumor-associated endothelial cells expressed low levels of IL-6. In addition, downregulation of IL-6 in tumor-associated endothelial cells reduced phosphorylation of STAT3 in tumor cells, inhibited tumor cell proliferation, and

decreased intratumoral microvessel density. Targeting the vascular endothelium rather than the cancer cells has been an attractive therapeutic approach for the treatment of several malignancies, since endothelial cells are directly accessible to systemic drugs, genetically stable, and less likely to acquire drug resistance (Kerbel and Folkman, 2002). Our results suggest that therapeutic blockade of signaling events initiated by endothelial cells might help to optimize the overall therapeutic benefit of molecular targeted drugs. The work presented here demonstrated that blockade of specific pathways in tumor associated-endothelial cells may have a direct impact on tumor cell survival, migration, and overall tumor growth.

Figure 4.1 proposes a model that incorporates the findings presented in this dissertation. We propose this new model for the crosstalk between endothelial and HNSCC cells. It is known that tumor cell-secreted VEGF binds to its cognate receptors in endothelial cells and induce expression of Bcl-2. Here, we demonstrated that Bcl-2 enhances IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF synthesis and secretion by endothelial cells. These endothelial cell-secreted factors activates STAT3, Akt, and ERK signaling pathways in tumor cells. The biological outcome of this crosstalk is a significant increase in tumor cell survival and migration, which will ultimately lead to an increase in tumor growth.



Figure 4.1. Diagram proposing a model for the endothelial cell-initiated crosstalk with tumor cells that is described in this dissertation. Endothelial cells secrete IL-6, CXCL8, and EGF that bind to their cognate receptors in tumor cells and induce phosphorylation of STAT3, Akt, and ERK. These phosphorylation events enhance tumor cell survival and migration. A positive feedback loop can be generated by STAT3 phosphorylation in tumor cells. It is known that STAT3 signal upregulation of VEGF expression in HNSCC and that tumor cell-secreted VEGF induces Bcl-2 expression in endothelial cells. Here, we showed that Bcl-2 signaling induces IL-6 secretion by endothelial cells, which in turn activate STAT3 in cancer cells, promote tumor angiogenesis, tumor growth, and maintain this feedback loop.

References

Harari PM, Wheeler DL, Grandis JR (2009). Molecular target approaches in head and neck cancer: epidermal growth factor receptor and beyond. *Semin Radiat Oncol* 19(1):63-8.

Kaneko T, Zhang Z, Mantellini MG, Karl E, Zeitlin B, Verhaegen M, et al. (2007). Bcl-2 orchestrates a cross-talk between endothelial and tumor cells that promotes tumor growth. *Cancer Res* 67(20):9685-93.

Karl E, Warner K, Zeitlin B, Kaneko T, Wurtzel L, Jin T, et al. (2005). Bcl-2 acts in a proangiogenic signaling pathway through nuclear factor-kappaB and CXC chemokines. *Cancer Res* 65(12):5063-9.

Kerbel R, Folkman J (2002). Clinical translation of angiogenesis inhibitors. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2(10):727-39.

Nor JE, Christensen J, Mooney DJ, Polverini PJ (1999). Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-mediated angiogenesis is associated with enhanced endothelial cell survival and induction of Bcl-2 expression. *Am J Pathol* 154(2):375-84.

Nor JE, Christensen J, Liu J, Peters M, Mooney DJ, Strieter RM, et al. (2001a). Up-Regulation of Bcl-2 in microvascular endothelial cells enhances intratumoral angiogenesis and accelerates tumor growth. *Cancer Res* 61(5):2183-8.

Nor JE, Peters MC, Christensen JB, Sutorik MM, Linn S, Khan MK, et al. (2001b). Engineering and characterization of functional human microvessels in immunodeficient mice. *Lab Invest* 81(4):453-63.

Warner KA, Miyazawa M, Cordeiro MM, Love WJ, Pinsky MS, Neiva KG, et al. (2008). Endothelial cells enhance tumor cell invasion through a crosstalk mediated by CXC chemokine signaling. *Neoplasia* 10(2):131-9.